CO2 Reduction Potential of Consumer Durables : A Case Study of Air Conditioners in Japan

西嶋, 大輔

https://doi.org/10.15017/1931687

出版情報:九州大学,2017,博士(経済学),課程博士 バージョン: 権利関係:

## **CO**<sub>2</sub> Reduction Potential of Consumer Durables : A Case Study of Air Conditioners in Japan

A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

### Ph.D. in Economics

Department of Economic Systems

Graduate School of Economics

Kyushu University

by

### Daisuke Nishijima

November 2017

#### Contents

Chapter 1. Introduction	2
1.1 Issues about climate change	2
1.2 Impacts of durable goods on climate mitigation	5
1.3 Structure of this dissertation	6
Chapter 2. Literature review and research objectives	9
2.1 Relationship between product lifetime and life-cycle environmental burdens	9
2.2 Scenario analyses for future environmental burdens associated with stock and flow of	durable
goods	15
2.3 Statistical estimation of product lifetime models	17
2.4 Contributions of this	19
Chapter 3 Effects of product lifetime and energy efficiency on life-cycle CO <sub>2</sub> emissions	24
3.1 Introduction	24
3.2 Methodology	29
3.3 Empirical results and discussion	
3.4. Conclusions	50
Chapter 4 Comprehensive analysis of roles of technology, product lifetime, and energy efficie	ency for
climate mitigation	55
4.1 Introduction	55
4.2 Methodology	58
4.3 Data	65
4.4 Results	67
4.5 Conclusion and Policy Implications	78
Chapter 5 Conclusion	82
Acknowledgement	86
References	90

#### **Chapter 1. Introduction**

#### 1.1 Issues about climate change

In 2015, at the 21st Session of the Conference of the Parties to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (COP21), the Paris Agreement was adopted as a new international framework for tackling the global warming, taking the place of the Kyoto Protocol (UNFCCC, 2016). As part of this agreement, it was decided to try to hold the global average temperature to within 2°C above the pre-industrial level, to propose and renew reduction targets every 5 years for all countries, including the major emitting countries, and to incorporate a framework for considering initiatives to help all countries achieve their reduction targets (UNFCCC, 2016). Thus, the agreement demonstrated a clear resolve by the whole of the international community to seriously tackle global warming. It is a clear statement that reducing emissions of Greenhouse gases (GHG), the cause of global warming, is becoming increasingly urgent, and that measures to combat the problem must now be rapidly worked out.

Figure 1.1 shows the trend of GHG emissions in the world during the period: 1970

to 2010 reported by the International Panel of Climate Change (IPCC) Working group III in 2014 (IPCC, 2014). The total of the GHG emissions in the world have been increasing since 1970. Especially, the annual increase rate of the GHG emissions during the period: 2000 to 2010 was 2.2% and the rate during this decade is higher than that during: 1970 to 2000 (1.3%). This means that we have to consider reducing the GHG emissions more seriously. Looking at the type of the greenhouse gases in 2010, CO<sub>2</sub> accounted for approximately 76% of the total GHG emissions and CO<sub>2</sub> is the main driver of global warming.



Total Annual Anthropogenic GHG Emissions by Groups of Gases 1970–2010



between 1970 and 2010 (IPCC, 2014)

While climate policies can be approached from a wide variety of viewpoints, the lifestyles and behavior patterns of consumers are considered an important factor in terms of impacts on global warming (International Panel on Climate Change Working Group III, 2014). The International Energy Agency (IEA) shows the world  $CO_2$  emissions for each sector in 2014 and reported that residential sector not only directly emitted 6% of the world  $CO_2$  emissions, but indirectly induced 11% of the world  $CO_2$  emissions due to electricity and heat utilizations in 2014 (IEA, 2016). The total  $CO_2$  emissions caused by residential sector accounted for 17% of the world  $CO_2$  emissions and the residential sector is one of the key sector for reducing  $CO_2$  emissions.

Residential sector is also one of the main drivers of  $CO_2$  emissions in Japan. According to the trend of the  $CO_2$  emissions by sector in Japan reported by the Ministry of the Environment of Japan (Ministry of the Environment of Japan, 2016), the residential sector is the fourth largest sector of  $CO_2$  emissions in Japan at 2014. It is important to note that  $CO_2$  emissions from the residential sector entirely tend to increase since 1990, whereas those from the other sectors entirely tend to decrease or be stable during the same period. It indicates that the importance of reducing the  $CO_2$  emissions from residential sector have been increasing.

#### 1.2 Impacts of durable goods on climate mitigation

In particular, since durable goods such as automobiles and home appliances are so essential to our lifestyles, the CO<sub>2</sub> emitted by their manufacture and use makes a large contribution to the global warming, and many previous studies have used a variety of techniques and approaches to quantitatively assess the energy use and the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions attributable to durable goods (Yokota et al., 2003; Kim et al., 2004; Elshkaki et al., 2005; Kagawa et al., 2006, 2008, 2009, 2011, 2015; Pout and Hitchin, 2009; Akpinar-Ferrand and Singh, 2010; Steubing et al., 2010; Hertwich and Roux, 2011; Olonscheck et al., 2011; Chan et al., 2013; Scown et al., 2013; Alberini and Bigano, 2015; Taptich et al., 2016; Waite et al., 2017). Based on electricity use of residential sector in Japan at 2009, after refrigerators, lights, and televisions, residential air conditioners are the fourth largest source of consumption, which also means that they are a major source of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (Agency for Natural Resources and Energy, Japan, 2010). Moreover, according to the previous study (Isaac and van Vuuren, 2009), the global CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from air conditioners in residential sector will increase rapidly in

the future because of the changes in temperature derived from the climate change. From these viewpoints, it is important to analyze  $CO_2$  emissions from air conditioners for climate mitigation.

#### 1.3 Structure of this dissertation

This Ph.D. dissertation comprises five chapters (See Figure 1.2). Chapter 2 conducts a review of relevant existing previous studies, identifies the contributions of those previous studies, and describes the significance and objectives of this dissertation. Chapter 3 constructs an estimation framework for  $CO_2$  emissions focusing on air conditioners in Japan as a case study, and evaluates the effects of change in product lifetime and energy efficiency (annual electricity consumption) on the  $CO_2$  emissions. Chapter 4 extends the estimation framework constructed in chapter 3 to environmental input-output model, conducts a comprehensive analysis for discussing polices about reducing  $CO_2$  emissions caused by air conditioners in Japan from viewpoints of industrial technology, product lifetime and energy efficiency, and discusses polices for reducing the  $CO_2$  emissions. Finally, Chapter 5 summarizes the results obtained from Chapters 3 and 4, and presents the conclusions of this dissertation.



Figure 1.2 Structure of this doctor dissertation

The contents of chapter 3 and chapter 4 in this doctor dissertation are research work published in the following peer-reviewed papers respectively.

Chapter 3:

Nishijima, D., 2016. Product Lifetime, Energy Efficiency and Climate Change: A Case

Study of Air Conditioner in Japan. Journal of Environmental Management, vol.181,

582-589.

Chapter 4:

Nishijima, D., 2017. The Role of Technology, Product Lifetime, and Energy Efficiency

in Climate Mitigation: A Case study of Air Conditioners in Japan. Energy Policy,

vol.104, 340-347.

#### **Chapter 2. Literature review and research objectives**

#### 2.1 Relationship between product lifetime and life-cycle environmental burdens

How long consumers use their own durable goods is a critical factor for environmental burdens. This is so called "product lifetime." We can consider mainly two directions about product lifetime; shortening product lifetime and extending product lifetime. When the product lifetime of durable goods is shortened, replacement cycle of durable goods becomes faster and energy consumptions at use phase decrease due to improving energy efficiency of the durable goods. It can reduce environmental burdens at use phase, whereas the environmental burdens at disposal and production phases increase by increasing the amount of end-of-life products and new products. On the other hand, when product lifetime of durable goods is extended, replacement cycle of durable goods becomes slower and disposal and production of durable goods decrease. It can reduce environmental burdens at production and disposal phases, whereas it increases environmental burdens at use phase due to using old products with lower energy efficiency. As I mentioned above, there is a trade-off between environmental burdens caused at production and disposal phases and use phase. It is

important to evaluate which direction of product lifetime (shortening or extension) is better for the environment. Therefore, studies focusing on the impacts of product lifetime change are main stream of research fields that estimate environmental burdens from durable goods.

Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) gives us helpful information on the above research question. In LCA, an analyst can estimate the entire environmental burdens of a particular good considering not only use phase but resource mining, production, distribution, and disposal phases. The LCA can be applied to 'vintage' and 'new' durable goods, so we can compare environmental burdens associated with a 'vintage' durable product with those associated with a 'new' product and decide whether or not we replace our own 'vintage' products with 'new' ones from an environmental viewpoint.

There are many previous studies using LCA methodology (Ayres, 1995; Spielmann and Altaus, 2007; Eriksson *et al.*, 2007; Samaras and Meisterling, 2008; Du *et al.*, 2010; Deng *et al.*, 2011; Grignon-Massé *et al.*, 2011; Aktas and Bilec, 2012; Chester and Horvath, 2012; Basbagill *et al.*, 2013; Hawkins *et al.*, 2013; Ardente and Mathieux, 2014; Bakker *et al.*, 2014; Garcia *et al.*, 2015; Suckling and Lee, 2015; Xiao *et al.*,
2015; Bobba *et al.* 2016; Iraldo *et al*, 2016; Parikh and Parikh, 2016)

For a seminal study, Kiatkittipong *et al.* (2008) conducted life cycle assessments of computer monitors, refrigerators, light bulbs, and induction motors and showed whether we should purchase new products by comparing accumulated energy consumptions of new products with those of old products as to each product.

Tasaki *et al.* (2012) proposed a visualization of results obtained by the life cycle assessment. Tasaki *et al.* (2012) focused on 3 types of home appliances (TV, air conditioner, and refrigerator) in Japan and they conducted life cycle assessments considering product size, environmental benefits of replacing vintage products with new products, and frequency of product use. They converted the results of the life cycle assessments into diagrams for consumers' decision making about whether replacing with new products is environmentally preferable.

Related to the life cycle assessment, some previous studies proposed calculation methodologies about when and how often replacement of durable goods should be carried out to minimize life cycle environmental burdens in a certain period. This analysis framework is called "Life Cycle Optimization (LCO)" (Kim *et al.*, 2003, 2006; Spitzley *et al.*, 2005; Bole, 2006; De Kleine *et al.*, 2011). The LCO finds a best replacement schedule of a particular durable good to minimize the life cycle environmental burdens by dynamic programming. For example, Kim *et al.* (2003) applied the LCO methodology to automobile replacement and provided the best replacement schedule for minimizing CO,  $CO_2$  NMHC, and  $NO_x$  respectively. There are also some previous studies that proposed calculation methodologies of replacement schedules to minimize environmental burdens other than LCO methodology (Chalkley *et al*, 2003; Mijailović, 2013; Skelton and Allwood, 2013; Mizuno *et al.*, 2015; Eryilmaz, 2017).

The life cycle assessment can consider the environmental burdens caused by both shortening and extending product lifetime of durable goods. There are previous studies that analyzed impacts of shortening and extending product lifetime respectively on environmental burdens from durable goods. Some previous studies analyzed the impact of a scrappage scheme on environmental burdens from durable goods. (Baltas and Xepapadeas, 1999; ECMT, 1999; Van Wee *et al.*, 2000, 2011; Dill 2004; BenDor and Ford, 2006; Lelli *et al.*, 2010; Lenski *et al.*, 2010; Brand *et al.*, 2011; Sandler, 2012; Li *et al.*, 2013; Antweiler and Gulati, 2015; DeShazo *et al.*, 2017). A scrappage scheme are is a policy in which a government gives consumers incentives for replacing new high energy-efficient products that a government targets. Scrappage schemes have been widely introduced in many countries not only for environmental policy but also for a measure for stimulating economy.

Lavee and Becker (2009) analyzed the impact of an accelerated vehicle retirement program in Israel by cost-benefit analysis. They considered three types of cars that are private cars, trucks and buses. They found that for private cars, an accelerated vehicle scrappage program can generate significant benefits and lower air pollution by approximately 17%. Conversely, conducting an accelerated vehicle scrappage program for buses and trucks makes negative net benefits. They also discussed the causes of the difference in effect of the program to private cars and trucks and buses. They mentioned that differences in natural retirement rate or reduction rate of air pollution due to replacement between car types make the difference in effects of the program.

Lenski et al. (2013) conducted a cost-benefit analysis of the vehicle scrappage

program in US which is also called 'Cash for Clunkers' considering both economic and environmental benefits at a life cycle perspective. They showed that the vehicle scrappage program could contribute to avoiding carbon dioxide and pollutant emissions. They also discussed more effective design of the vehicle scrappage program. They pointed out that more economic and environmental benefits could have been achieved by a lower value of rebate, auction mechanism for setting rebate value, and targeting to areas where damages from emissions are relatively higher.

There are also some previous studies focusing on effects of product lifetime extension on environmental burdens from durable goods (Cooper, 2005; Kagawa *et al.*, 2008, 2009, 2011; Defra, 2011). For example, Kagawa *et al.* (2006) quantitatively analyzed impacts of product lifetime extension of automobiles on energy consumptions and economy in Japan by the environmental input-output framework considering some consumption pattern shifts induced by product lifetime extension. They revealed that product lifetime extension can realize significant energy consumptions and GDP increase if consumer spend income gains obtained from product lifetime extension on consumer services.

## 2.2 Scenario analyses for future environmental burdens associated with stock and flow of durable goods

There is another main research field about environmental burdens from durable goods. That is a scenario analysis about future environmental burdens from durable goods focusing on stock and flow of durable goods. This research field can give an estimation framework for the environmental burdens including some factors (e.g. population, distribution rate, product lifetime, energy efficiency in use) as parameters. Once we construct the forecasting framework, we can estimate the future environmental burdens from consumer durables using the framework. Changing the parameters in the framework and comparing the estimation results, we can also evaluate the reduction potential of changes in each factor and propose combined scenarios for achieving a reduction target of environmental burdens. As to environmental burdens from durable goods, we firstly set initial number of stock of particular durable goods and estimate the future number of stock, replacement demand, and waste of durable goods. Then, we forecast the environmental burdens from durable goods by multiplying those estimated numbers by emission coefficients (Lumbreras et al., 2008; Yang, et al., 2009; Kromer et al., 2010; Hao et al., 2011, 2016; Baptista et al., 2012; Palencia et al., 2012; Singh and Strømman, 2013; Ürge-Vorsatz et al. 2015; Mittal et al., 2016; Alam et al., 2017; Zhao and Heywood, 2017).

Müller (2006) introduced a material flow analysis system for stock dynamics considering population, product lifetime, material intensity and service unit a stock provides. He applied the analysis into concrete in housing stock in Netherland as a case study and estimated the future stock of concrete in housing. Moreover, he changed the values of parameters about product lifetime, material intensity and useful floor area (service unit of housing in this study) and analyzed the effects of those changes on concrete stock in housing.

Melaina and Webster (2011) developed a formula for estimating greenhouse gas emissions from motor vehicle travel, utilizing three factors that are travel distance per a unit, fuel consumption, and fuel carbon intensity. They also conducted scenario analyses aimed at achieving the greenhouse gas emission target set by the U.S. government for the year 2050. They showed that all the three factors must progress significantly for achieving the greenhouse gas reduction target.

#### 2.3 Statistical estimation of product lifetime models

Most of the previous studies about environmental burdens from durable goods used statistical product lifetime models. The widely-used statistical product lifetime model is lifetime distribution (or lifetime function). This product lifetime model expresses a relationship between disposal rate (survival rate) of a particular durable good and their usage duration. Using this product lifetime distribution, we can get the disposal or survival probabilities of durable goods corresponding to their usage duration and also can calculate the stock of materials and products (Bergsdal et al., 2007; Oguchi et al., 2008; Hu et al., 2010; Huo and Wang, 2012; Pauliuk and Müller, 2014; Chen and Graedel, 2015; Golev et al., 2016; Cao et al., 2017; Guo and Yan, 2017; Miatto et al., 2017), the number of waste products (Kim et al., 2008; Walk, 2009; Oguchi et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2011; Araújo et al., 2012; Polák and Drápalová, 2012; Pant 2013; Hauber et al., 2014; Rahmani et al., 2014), material or substance flow (Melo, 1999; Kleijn et al., 2000; Tasaki et al., 2004; Davis et al., 2007; Hashimoto et al., 2007; Yoshida et al., 2009; Kapur et al., 2008; Hatayama et al., 2010; Huang et al., 2013; Lam et al., 2013; Pauliuk et al., 2017), and associated environmental burdens (Samaras et al., 1999; van der Voet et al., 2002; Kakudate et al., 2002; Cheah et al., 2009; Yan and Crookes 2009;

Zhou *et al.*, 2011; Cai *et al.*, 2015; Xue *et al.*, 2017). The product lifetime distribution has such benefits for estimating environmental burdens induced by durable goods and it has been widely used in many previous studies.

The product lifetime distributions are statistically estimated by actual data about existing or disposed products based on some types of distribution function. As to product lifetime function of durable goods, Weibull distribution function has been widely used and statistically well fitted for estimating the product lifetime. Murakami *et al.* (2010) and Oguchi *et al.* (2010) explained about definitions of some types of product lifetime, estimation methodologies of product lifetime distribution, and information on data of product lifetime distribution more concretely. Many product lifetime distributions have been estimated as to a variety of products in different countries (Bayus, 1988; Cohen and Whitten, 1988; Islam and Meade, 2000; Tasaki *et al.*, 2001; Oguchi *et al.*, 2006, 2010; Erumban, 2008; Babbitt *et al.*, 2009; Murakami *et al.*, 2010; Kagawa *et al.*, 2011; Daigo *et al.*, 2007, 2015; Oguchi and Fuse, 2015, Miller *et al.*, 2016; Petridis *et al.*, 2016; Weymar and Finkbeiner, 2016).

#### 2.4 Contributions of this dissertation

From the comprehensive overview of the previous studies about environmental burdens from durable goods, those previous studies contributed to discussions about reducing environmental burdens from durable goods mainly on the following two points.

The first point is that the previous studies have clarified the relationship between product lifetime and environmental burdens induced by durable goods. As I mentioned in section 2.1, product lifetime has a large influence on those environmental burdens. In that point, life cycle assessment considers both shortening and extending product lifetime as measures for reducing the environmental burdens. There are also previous studies focused on the effects of shortening or extending product lifetime respectively on environmental burdens from durable goods. Those previous studies help us to discuss how long we should use our own products from an environmental perspective.

The second point is that the previous studies have shown the reduction potential of not only product lifetime change but the other factors such as change in energy efficiency and/or technologies of durable goods. Previous studies in section 2.2 constructed estimation frameworks of environmental burdens based on stock of durable goods including a variety of factors such as population and carbon or material intensity. These previous studies not only estimated environmental burdens derived from durable goods in the future, but also showed integrated scenarios for achieving particular reduction targets. The results can help especially policymakers to understand how they can achieve reduction targets they are imposed.

However, the previous studies have not analyzed yet as below. One is that they have not statistically modeled empirical trends of energy efficiency in use of durable goods. When we discuss the reduction potential of energy efficiency improvement for reducing environmental burdens, we should consider historical technological progress about energy efficiency. Although some previous studies analyzed effects of energy efficiency improvement on environmental burdens induced by durable goods, they did not consider that point. We should capture features of historical trend of energy efficiency by statistically modelling empirical trend of energy efficiency and discuss reduction policies of the environmental burdens more empirically.

The other point is that the previous studies did not discuss reduction of environmental burdens from durable goods with simultaneous consideration of both micro factors such as product lifetime and energy efficiency of particular durable goods, and macro factors such as industrial technologies surrounding the durable goods including supply chains. Most of the previous studies focused on reduction measures of environmental burdens from durable goods based on product lifetime or energy efficiency. However, upstream industries centered around durable goods have also an important role of reducing life-cycle environmental burdens from the durable goods and we should take those industries into account for discussing reductions in the environmental burdens along the supply-chains. Few previous studies considered the impacts of industries surrounding durable goods on the environmental burdens and there is no comprehensive analysis for the environmental burdens simultaneously considering product lifetime, energy efficiency, and industries related to durable goods.

Motivated by the shortcomings of the previous studies above, this doctoral dissertation focuses on life-cycle  $CO_2$  emissions caused by air conditioners in Japan as a case study. In chapter 3, I statistically model the product lifetime and trend of energy efficiency of air conditioners in Japan. Using those models, I estimate the number of

stock and replacement of air conditioners and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions induced by air conditioners. Finally, I conduct scenario analyses about the effects of change in product lifetime and energy efficiency in use of air conditioners on CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. Through the results, I evaluate the CO<sub>2</sub> reduction potential of change in product lifetime and energy efficiency and quantitatively show a target value of improvement rate of energy efficiency for conducting scrappage schemes such as "Home appliance eco-point program". In chapter 4, I connect the models of product lifetime and energy efficiency modeled in chapter 3 with the environmental input-output framework and construct the comprehensive analytical framework for CO<sub>2</sub> emissions induced by air conditioners in Japan during the period from 1990 to 2005. Using the constructed framework, I conduct a structural decomposition analysis to find specific industrial sectors that indirectly contributed to increasing the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions during the period. I also conduct scenario analyses about the impacts of change in product lifetime and energy efficiency on the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and quantitatively shows combinations of shortening or extending product lifetime and energy efficiency improvement necessary for holding the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in 2005 at 1990 level. Finally, based on the results of analyses above, I discuss comprehensively how we should reduce CO<sub>2</sub> emissions induced by air conditioners from viewpoints of industrial technology surrounding air conditioners, product lifetime, and energy efficiency.

This doctoral dissertation discusses reduction measures of  $CO_2$  emissions induced by air conditioners in Japan comprehensively considering not only microscopic factors of durable goods such as product lifetime and energy efficiency in use, but macroscopic factors such as technology of industries surrounding the durable goods. The outcomes showed in this dissertation are useful for policymakers and durable goods industries and also enable us to develop discussions for reducing  $CO_2$  emissions from durable goods.

# Chapter 3 Effects of product lifetime and energy efficiency on life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions

#### **3.1 Introduction**

After the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change was adopted in 1992, with the aim of stabilizing the concentration of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere, a worldwide effort began to combat global warming. As a result of the various initiatives, Japan took toward climate mitigation, it managed to reduce GHG emissions in 2014 by 3.1% compared to those in 2013 (Ministry of the Environment of Japan, 2016). However, since Japan has to conduct a reduction of 26% GHG emissions by 2030 compared to 2013 in Paris Agreement (Ministry of Foreign Affair of Japan, 2016), additional GHG reductions are needed. The residential sector accounted for a substantial proportion of total emissions—15.2% in 2014 (Ministry of the Environment of Japan, 2016)—so the reduction of total residential CO<sub>2</sub> emissions appears to be an urgent challenge for Japan.

As I described in chapter 1, residential air conditioners are the fourth largest source

of consumption, which also means that they are a major source of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (Agency for Natural Resources and Energy, Japan, 2010). The energy efficiency of residential air conditioners has greatly improved in recent years as a result of the increased efficiency of compressors and heat exchangers, together with the adoption of inverter technology. A comparison of air conditioners with an energy efficiency of 2.8 kW (sufficient to cool a room of approx. 18 m<sup>2</sup>) reveals that a typical model made in 2013 consumes about 40% less energy than does one made in 1995. More recently, however, the energy efficiencies of air conditioners have improved only marginally, as their technology approaches its limits (Agency for Natural Resources and Energy, Japan, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014).

Even as efforts to improve the energy efficiency of residential air conditioners face technological limitations, the reduction of  $CO_2$  emissions remains an urgent task. In addition, the environmental concerns of consumers continue to mount. Nevertheless, because replacement purchases of new air conditioners do not promise any significant gains in energy efficiency, from both economic and environmental viewpoints, consumers have an incentive to continue using their current air conditioners for a longer time. This results in fewer replacement purchases of new air conditioners and a smaller quantity of  $CO_2$  emissions generated in the production phase of residential air conditioners. On the other hand, when old air conditioners are retained for a longer time, replacement purchases of new higher efficiency models are delayed, resulting in higher  $CO_2$  emissions in the use phase. Thus, in considering how a longer use of residential air conditioners affects  $CO_2$  emissions, there is a trade-off between  $CO_2$  emissions arising from the production phase and those arising from the use phase.

Many previous studies focused on the trade-off above mentioned and estimated the impacts of product lifetime and energy efficiency of durable goods on environmental burdens (Kondo and Nakamura, 2004; Van Schaik and Reuter, 2004; Müller *et al.*, 2006; Nakamura and Kondo, 2006; Ou *et al.*, 2010; Beccali *et al.*, 2013, 2014, 2016; Cellura *et al.*, 2014; Finocchiaro *et al.*, 2016). Kagawa *et al.* (2011) evaluated the impacts of change in product lifetime on total  $CO_2$  emissions from vehicle use in Japan and showed that extending product lifetime of vehicles can contribute to reducing  $CO_2$  emissions. Yokota *et al.* (2003) assumed that the lifetime distribution of residential air conditioners followed a gamma distribution in estimating total life-cycle  $CO_2$  emissions of residential air conditioners in Japan for the period from 1990 to 2010, including emissions during manufacturing, use, and waste disposal. Furthermore, they examined

the degree to which changes in the average lifetime of residential air conditioners and changes in the recovery rate of refrigerant at the time of waste disposal impacted life-cycle  $CO_2$  emissions.

The following points, however, were not analyzed. First, trends in the energy efficiency of residential air conditioners were not modeled and empirically analyzed. Second, the impact on life-cycle environmental load in the case that the average lifetime and energy efficiency both change at the same time was not considered. Finally, they did not show to what degree does the diminishing rise in the energy efficiency of residential air conditioners hold back the reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions that occurs when the lifetime of air conditioners becomes shorter (by accelerating new replacement purchases).

In this chapter, I used a Weibull distribution model to estimate the total stock of residential air conditioners between 1990 and 2013 in order to compute the total life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (sum of production-phase and use-phase emissions) associated with residential air conditioners for this period. In addition, I modeled the trend in annual energy efficiency (i.e., annual electricity consumption) of an "average" air conditioner sufficient to cool a room of approximately  $18 \text{ m}^2$  as a reverse logistic curve with respect to time, and from the estimated parameters of the reverse logistic curve, I determined the technologically critical (limit) value of energy efficiency. Using the results of this estimation, I conducted scenario analyses in order to investigate how changes in product lifetime and energy efficiency impact the lifecycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and how much we should improve energy efficiency of air conditioners for holding back the reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions that occurs when the lifetime of air conditioners becomes shorter (by accelerating new replacement purchases). It should be noted that since life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions associated with an end-of-life household air conditioner are negligibly small (Nakamura and Kondo, 2006), this study did not consider the end-of-life phase in the proposed analysis framework.

The rest of this paper is organized as follows: Section 3.2 provides a literature review; Section 3.2 formulates the methodology developed in this study; Section 3.3 presents the empirical results and discussion; Section 3.4 presents our conclusions.

#### **3.2 Methodology**

3.2.1 Estimating the stock of residential air conditioners and the number of new residential air conditioners sold each year

The survival rate in year t of the air conditioners newly sold in year i,  $\varphi_{t-i}$  is assumed to follow a Weibull distribution, as follows:

$$\varphi_{t-i} = \exp\left\{-\left(\frac{t-i}{\alpha}\right)^{\beta}\right\} \qquad (t \ge i)$$
(3.1)

where  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  respectively represent the scale parameter and shape parameter of the distribution. Weibull distributions fit the data well and are widely used to model the product lifetimes of various kinds of durable goods (e.g., Kagawa *et al.*, 2011; Oguchi and Fuse, 2015). Note that when t = i, Eq. (3.1) gives the proportion of the new household air conditioners sold in year *i* that remain in use in year *i* as 1. The mean value of the Weibull distribution function (that is, average product lifetime)  $\mu$  is given by

$$\mu = \alpha \Gamma \left( 1 + \frac{1}{\beta} \right) \tag{3.2}$$

where  $\Gamma(m)$  is the gamma function, which can be expressed as  $\Gamma(m) = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-a} a^{m-1} da$ . In this study, I set the values of scale parameter  $\alpha$  and shape parameter  $\beta$  to 7.9 and 1.8 respectively, as specified in the research report "Reuse Promotion of End-of-Life Products" (Ministry of the Environment of Japan, 2011). Therefore, using the above-adopted values for the scale and shape parameters, the average lifetime of household air conditioners, as a baseline, is  $\overline{\mu} = 12.6$  years.

Specifying the survival rate of air conditioners as in Eq. (3.1), the stock of residential air conditioners  $S_t(\overline{\mu})$  in year t can be estimated using the following equation:

$$S_t(\overline{\mu}) = B_t(\overline{\mu}) + \sum_{i=1}^{t-1} \varphi_{t-i}(\overline{\mu}) B_i(\overline{\mu})$$
(3.3)

where  $B_i(\overline{\mu}) (B_i(\overline{\mu}))$  and  $\varphi_{t-i}(\overline{\mu})$  are the number of newly sold residential air conditioners in year t(i), and the survival rate in condition that average lifetime of air conditioners is  $\overline{\mu} = 12.6$  years, respectively.. Using the data on annual new shipments of residential air conditioners in Japan for the 42 years from 1972 to 2013, as published by the Japan Air Refrigeration and Air Conditioning Industry Association (The Japan Air Refrigeration and Air Conditioning Industry Association, 2015) (see Table 3A of the Appendix 3A for the shipment data) as  $B_i(\bar{\mu})(i = 1972, 1973, \dots, 2013)$  in Eq. (3.3), which expands to the system of equations

$$\begin{cases} S_{1972}(\overline{\mu}) = B_{1972}(\overline{\mu}) \\ S_{1973}(\overline{\mu}) = B_{1973}(\overline{\mu}) + \varphi_1(\overline{\mu})B_{1972}(\overline{\mu}) \\ S_{1974}(\overline{\mu}) = B_{1974}(\overline{\mu}) + \varphi_1(\overline{\mu})B_{1973}(\overline{\mu}) + \varphi_2(\overline{\mu})B_{1972}(\overline{\mu}) \\ \vdots \\ S_{2013}(\overline{\mu}) = B_{2013}(\overline{\mu}) + \varphi_1(\overline{\mu})B_{2012}(\overline{\mu}) + \varphi_2(\overline{\mu})B_{2011}(\overline{\mu}) + \dots + \varphi_{41}(\overline{\mu})B_{1972}(\overline{\mu}) \end{cases}$$
(3.4)

I estimated the stock of air conditioners in each year on the basis of the current average product lifetime. Note that I assume that all air conditioners are following the same lifetime distribution, irrespective of their age (i.e., year of production).

For purposes of analysis, in this study the stock of air conditioners in each year estimated using Eq. (3.4), remains constant with respect to lifetime. Under this assumption, I consider a change in the average product lifetime of air conditioners from  $\bar{\mu} = 12.6$  to  $\mu^*$  such that the survival rate changes from  $\varphi_{t-i}(\bar{\mu})$  to  $\varphi_{t-i}(\mu^*)$  while

remaining a Weibull distribution. Then from eq. (3.4), the annual numbers of new residential air conditioners sold in the 42-year period from 1972 to 2013  $B_i(\mu^*)(i=1972, 1973, \dots, 2013)$  can be estimated sequentially as follows:

$$\begin{cases} B_{1972}(\mu^*) = S_{1972}(\mu^*) = S_{1972}(\overline{\mu}) \\ B_{1973}(\mu^*) = S_{1973}(\mu^*) - \varphi_1(\mu^*)B_{1972}(\mu^*) \\ B_{1974}(\mu^*) = S_{1974}(\mu^*) - \varphi_1(\mu^*)B_{1973}(\mu^*) - \varphi_2(\mu^*)B_{1972}(\mu^*) \\ \vdots \\ B_{2013}(\mu^*) = S_{2013}(\mu^*) - \varphi_1(\mu^*)B_{2012}(\mu^*) - \varphi_2(\mu^*)B_{2011}(\mu^*) - \dots - \varphi_{41}(\mu^*)B_{1972}(\mu^*) \end{cases}$$
(3.5)

#### 3.2.2 Household air conditioner energy efficiency and its time series trend

In terms of estimating the impact on CO<sub>2</sub> emissions associated with household air conditioners, another important factor (in addition to change in product lifetime) is change in energy efficiency (i.e., annual electricity consumption). To assess the impact on CO<sub>2</sub> emissions of changes in air conditioner electricity consumption, I assume in this study that the annual electricity consumption per air conditioner unit manufactured in year i,  $\lambda_i$ , follows a reverse logistic function,

$$\lambda_i = K\{1 + \exp(a - bi)\}$$
(3.6)

where *K* is the critical value, and *a* and *b* are parameters, with b > 0. The reverse logistic function is a decreasing function with respect to *i*, with the characteristic that as *i* approaches infinity,  $\lambda_i$  converges towards *K*.

I made use of annual electricity consumption data for 'average' household air conditioners (sufficient to cool a room of approximately 18 m<sup>2</sup>) manufactured between 1995 and 2013 from a government "Energy-saving Performance Catalog" (Agency for Natural Resources and Energy, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014) to estimate the reverse logistic function. The data used in this estimation are provided in Table 3B of Appendix 3B. I estimated the function parameters  $\hat{a}$  and  $\hat{b}$  in eq. (3.6) for different fixed critical values K and obtained the coefficient of determination of the reverse logistic curve by regression analyses. I obtained the highest coefficient of determination  $(R^2 = 0.966)$  with values  $\hat{K} = 824$ ,  $\hat{a} = -0.166$ , and  $\hat{b} = 0.197$  (see Fig. 3.1).



Figure 3.1 Catalog-based annual electricity consumption of an "average" residential air conditioner and estimated consumption based on a reverse logistic function

In the following analysis, I assume the annual electricity consumption of residential air conditioners manufactured in each year on a baseline to follow Eq. (3.6) for K = 824. Because I could not obtain electricity consumption data for household air conditioners for 1994 or earlier years, I assumed for this study that air conditioner electricity consumption for the years up to 1994 was the same as that for air conditioners manufactured in 1995.

The estimated value  $\hat{K}$  can be considered a critical electricity consumption value
expressing a technological limit for household air conditioners, which can be estimated from empirical values of electricity consumption. That is, the electricity consumption of household air conditioners is changing from 1,492 kWh in 1995 to a future technological limit value of 824 kWh.

It is well known that the annual electricity consumption of an "average" residential air conditioner provided by the "Energy-saving Performance Catalog" database (i.e. catalog-based annual electricity consumption) is not the 'actual' annual electricity consumption occurring in the residential sector. According to the research report by the National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology (AIST) of Japan (2010), the actual annual electricity consumption of residential air conditioners is 18% of the catalog-based annual electricity consumption if one considers usage time of residential air conditioners. Thus, in this study, I multiply the values of  $\lambda_i$  by 18% and use the results as the annual electricity consumption of air conditioners produced for the corresponding years.

# 3.2.3 Method of estimating the electricity consumption and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions of residential air conditioners

Next, I estimate the total electricity consumption of air conditioners during their use phase. The electricity consumed in year t by residential air conditioners C(t) can be expressed as follows:

$$C(t) = \sum_{i=1972}^{t} \lambda_i \varphi_{t-i}(\mu^*) B_i(\mu^*)$$
(3.7)

Then, by multiplying Eq. (3.7) by the life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions coefficient per kilowatt-hour for air conditioners in the use phase  $\delta_r$ , the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from air conditioners in year t,  $E_r(t)$ , is calculated as follows:

$$E_r(t) = \delta_r C(t) \tag{3.8}$$

Next, I estimate  $E_p(t)$ , the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions of residential air conditioners in the production phase in year t. This is done using the life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions coefficient

 $\delta_p$ , which represents the quantity of emissions generated in manufacturing one air conditioner, as follows:

$$E_p(t) = \delta_p B_t(\mu^*) \tag{3.9}$$

The life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions coefficients for the use and production phases were set as  $\delta_r = 0.0005 \ \delta_r = 0.0005$  and  $\delta_p = 0.31$  (tonnes of CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent), respectively, based on "Guidelines for the Calculation of Greenhouse Gas Emission Intensities Throughout the Supply Chain Ver. 2.1" (Ministry of the Environment of Japan, 2014). In this study, it is assumed that air conditioners purchased in year *t* are manufactured in that same year.

Now, using Eqs. (3.8) and (3.9), the total life-cycle  $CO_2$  emissions E(t) for residential air conditioners can be determined as follows.

$$E(t) = E_r(t) + E_p(t)$$
 (3.10)

## 3.2.4 Scenario analysis of the influence on $CO_2$ emissions of changes in average lifetime and the critical value of electricity consumption of residential air conditioners

I will explain the scenario analyses on how the average product lifetime of residential air conditioners influences total CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. I vary the average product lifetime by changing the mean value  $\mu$  of the Weibull distribution function shown in Eq. (3.1) and analyze the impacts of these changes on total CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. I estimate life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions when the average lifetime is reduced by 1 year and extended by 1 year relative to the average lifetime value of 12.6 years estimated by the Ministry of the Environment (2011). More specifically, along the lines of Kagawa et al. (2006, 2009, 2011), I fix the value of the shape parameter  $\beta$  at 1.8 and re-estimate the values of  $\alpha$  required to make the average lifetime in Eq. (3.2) 11.6 and 13.6 for the shorter and longer lifetime scenarios, respectively. Then from the Weibull distribution functions obtained with both parameters, I determine the survival rate for each scenario and estimate the life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions for both the use and production phases from Eqs. (3.8) and (3.9).

Next, I conduct a scenario analysis to assess how changes in the critical value of annual electricity consumption of residential air conditioners K influences life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. More specifically, I estimate the electricity consumption in the case that the critical value of annual electricity consumption is reduced by  $\varepsilon \times 100\%$  from  $\hat{K} = 824$ , i.e., to  $(1 - \varepsilon)\hat{K}$ . It is noted that when  $\varepsilon = 0$ , the values of Eq. (3.6) are annual electricity consumption of air conditioners manufactured in each year as a baseline In this study, I set the value of the parameters in Eq. (3.6) to  $\hat{a} = -0.166$  and  $\hat{b} = 0.197$  to determine the annual electricity consumption  $\lambda_i$  of residential air conditioners manufactured in each year for three scenarios: reductions of the electricity consumption limit value by 5% ( $\varepsilon = 0.05$ ), by 10% ( $\varepsilon = 0.1$ ), and by 15% ( $\varepsilon = 0.15$ ). For each of these scenarios, I then estimate the life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. This analysis examines the potential for reducing CO<sub>2</sub> emissions not only by changing the average product lifetime but also by improving the energy performance of air conditioners.

### 3.3 Empirical results and discussion

3.3.1 Trend in stock of residential air conditioners over the years

Figure 3.2 shows the stock of residential air conditioners between 1990 and 2013, as estimated using Eq. (3.4), as well as the number of residential air conditioners that were shipped domestically, according to data provided by the Japan Air Refrigeration and Air Conditioning Industry Association (2015). It is clear from Fig. 3.2 that the total stock of residential air conditioners has consistently risen. Interestingly, despite the fact that Japan's population began to decline between 2009 and 2013 (Statistics Bureau, Japan, 2015), the stock of air conditioners over this period continued to increase in the same manner as below. However, from 1990 to 2013 the number of households in Japan rose steadily from 41.15 to 54.59 million (Statistics Bureau, Japan, 2015), much like the air conditioner numbers. Considering that air conditioners are a type of durable good that is installed on a per-household or per-room basis, it is natural that the stock of air conditioners increase roughly in line with the number of households. From this observation, I find that the air conditioner stock moves primarily in response to the number of households rather than to the current population. According to estimates by the National Institute of Population and Social Security Research of Japan (2013), the number of households in Japan is expected to continue increasing until 2019. In light of this, the stock of air conditioners is also likely to continue rising, which means that the impact of air conditioners on climate change will also continue to grow bigger.



Figure 3.2 Total stock of residential air conditioners and new air conditioner shipments

3.3.2 Change in CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in production and use phases for each average lifetime scenario

Next, I look at life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions when the average product lifetime is reduced and extended by 1 year from the baseline scenario ( $\mu = 12.6, \varepsilon = 0$ ), to 11.6 and 13.6 years, respectively.

Figure 3.3 shows the change in production-phase  $CO_2$  emissions of residential air conditioners for the baseline level of 12.6 years and extended and reduced by 1 year.

Production-phase CO<sub>2</sub> emissions are lowest for the scenario in which the average product lifetime is extended by 1 year to 13.6 years. This can be explained by the fact that increasing the air conditioner lifetime tends to depress the number of new air conditioners produced. The estimated production-phase CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (in millions of tonnes) in 2013 for the three average product lifetime scenarios are 3.08 for 11.6 years, 2.89 for 12.6 years, and 2.73 for 13.6 years. Thus, extending the average product lifetime by 1 year enables a 5.5% reduction in emissions in 2013 relative to the baseline average product lifetime scenario of 12.6 years.



Figure 3.3 Production-phase CO<sub>2</sub> emissions of residential air conditioners for each

average product lifetime scenario

Although there was very little difference in use-phase emissions between the scenarios, as shown in Fig. 3.4, emissions are lowest when the average product lifetime is 11.6 years. This is likely to be because a shorter lifetime tends to increase the number of more energy-efficient, newer air conditioners as a proportion of the total stock of air conditioners in use. The use-phase  $CO_2$  emissions (in millions of tonnes) for the three average product lifetimes are 7.72 for 11.6 years, 7.84 for 12.6 years, and 7.96 for 13.6 years. Thus, reducing the average lifetime by 1 year enables a 1.5% reduction in use-phase  $CO_2$  emissions in 2013 relative to the baseline average product lifetime scenario of 12.6 years.

The results reveal that when the average product lifetime is reduced, there is a trade-off between the reduction in emissions during product use (use phase), due to the additional purchases of new, more energy-efficient air conditioners, and the increase in emissions arising from the additional production of new air conditioners stimulated by the reduction of the average product lifetime.



Figure 3.4 Use-phase CO<sub>2</sub> emissions of residential air conditioners for each average

product lifetime scenario

3.3.3 Total residential air conditioner CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in production and use phases for each scenario

Here, I show how the total CO<sub>2</sub> emissions for residential air conditioners, from both the production and use phases, are influenced by reducing the average product lifetime by 1 year ( $\mu$ =11.6,  $\varepsilon$ =0) and by extending it by 1 year ( $\mu$ =13.6,  $\varepsilon$ =0) relative to the baseline value of 12.6 years. It is important to note that further development toward cleaner air conditioners has a large potential for reducing life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. Therefore, for the baseline value of the average product lifetime (12.6 years), I also show the effect of lowering the critical value of electricity consumption  $\hat{K} = 824$  by 5% ( $\mu = 12.6, \varepsilon = 0.05$ ), 10% ( $\mu = 12.6, \varepsilon = 0.1$ ), and 15% ( $\mu = 12.6, \varepsilon = 0.15$ ). Figure 3.5 graphically displays the difference in total CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (production phase plus use phase) for each of these scenarios relative to the baseline case ( $\mu = 12.6, \varepsilon = 0$ ).

First, the results for total CO<sub>2</sub> emissions for each average product lifetime scenario are that total emissions are lowest when the average product lifetime is extended by 1 year to 13.6 years, and highest when the average product lifetime is reduced by 1 year to 11.6 years. The estimates of total CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (millions of tonnes) for 2013 are 10.79 for 11.6 years, 10.73 for 12.6 years, and 10.69 for 13.6 years. Thus, extending the average product lifetime by 1 year enables a CO<sub>2</sub> emissions reduction of approximately 0.4% in 2013 relative to the baseline scenario. This result suggests that at the current level of air conditioner energy efficiency (technology level) (i.e., K = 824), reducing life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions would be more effectively achieved by extending the average product lifetime to make better use of existing air conditioners than by increasing the average energy efficiency of the stock of air conditioners by reducing the average product lifetime.

Next, analysis on how changes in the critical value of electricity consumption influence CO<sub>2</sub> emissions reveals that reducing the critical value of annual electricity consumption by 5%, 10%, and 15% would cut life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions to 10.34, 9.95, and 9.55 million tonnes, respectively. Also, a comparison of CO<sub>2</sub> emission levels in the case of extending average product lifetime by 1 year to 13.6 years and in the cases of reducing the critical value (of annual electricity consumption) by 5%, 10%, and 15% reveals that emissions can be reduced more by lowering the critical value of annual electricity consumption by 5% than by extending the average product lifetime by 1 year, as shown by Fig. 3.5. An additional finding is that the emission reduction effect of extending the average product lifetime by 3 years is still lower than that of improving the critical value of electricity consumption by 5% (see Fig. 3A at Appendix 3C for more comprehensive results on potential changes in life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions through changing average product lifetime and the critical value of electricity consumption). This result suggests that if we had to decide whether to try to reduce the life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions of air conditioners either by extending the average product lifetime or by improving the energy efficiency, it would be better to try to improve the electricity consumption, even taking into account the adverse economic impact due to the depressing effect that extending the average product lifetime has on replacement air

conditioner purchases.



Figure 3.5 Difference in life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions relative to baseline scenario, for each change scenario

These results indicate that further reducing the electricity consumption of air conditioners is essential for continuing to cut the total CO<sub>2</sub> emissions resulting from residential air conditioners. It is important to give the air conditioning industry an incentive to develop cleaner products through a market expansion policy of highly energy-efficient products, similar to the vehicle scrappage schemes introduced in various countries (European Automobile Manufacturers Association, 2012; Executive Office of the President of the

United States, 2009; Institute for Energy and Environmental Research Heidelberg, 2009; The World Bank, 2012). Such measures serve not only to reduce the lifetimes of products but also to improve their energy efficiency.

One important question is how much the energy efficiency of new air conditioners needs to be improved in order to offset the increase in production-phase emissions that occurs due to the additional new air conditioners resulting from a shorter average product lifetime. Figure 3.6 shows life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in 2013 when the average product lifetime is simply extended by 1 year to 13.6 years and emissions under scenarios in which the average product lifetime is reduced by 1 year to 11.6 years and, simultaneously, the critical value of annual electricity consumption is reduced by 1.4%, 5%, 10%, and 15% relative to its current level, i.e., K = 824.

These result show that even at the reduced average product lifetime of 11.6 years, if the air conditioner energy efficiency limit can be improved by 1.4% ( $\varepsilon = 0.014$ ) from the current level, CO<sub>2</sub> emissions can be reduced by approximately the same amount as when the average product lifetime is extended to 13.6 years (at the current energy efficiency). If the air conditioner energy efficiency limit is improved further to 5%, 10%, and 15% below the current level, it is possible to achieve  $CO_2$  emissions that are lower than those when the average product lifetime is extended to 13.6 years, by 0.28, 0.67, and 1.05 million tonnes, that is, 2.6%, 6.2%, and 9.8%, respectively.

The model proposed in this study not only estimates the  $CO_2$  emissions derived from residential air conditioners but also offers a target value for energy efficiency that indicates the degree to which energy-saving technology needs to be improved. The above results point to 1.4% as a significant level of energy performance improvement of residential air conditioners. This concrete target value and its justification offer air conditioning manufacturers a clear course of action for how to move forward in cutting  $CO_2$  emissions further, as well as motivation to improve their technology.



Figure 3.6 Estimated 2013 life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions for an average product lifetime of

13.6 years, and for an average product lifetime of 11.6 years with 1.4%, 5%,10%, and 15% reductions in critical value of annual electricity consumption

### 3.4. Conclusions

In this study, I proposed a model for estimating life-cycle  $CO_2$  emissions that takes into account both the lifetime and energy efficiency of a durable good, and employed the model to analyze the influence of changes in the average product lifetime and energy efficiency of residential air conditioners on the life-cycle  $CO_2$  emissions attributable to such air conditioners in Japan. The results demonstrated that from a baseline scenario, extending the average product lifetime would enable a greater reduction in  $CO_2$  emissions than would reducing the average product lifetime. On the other hand, when I considered potential improvements to energy efficiency, I could show that if the critical (limit) value of electricity consumption were reduced by 1.4% or more, along with shortening the average product lifetime by 1 year, then it would be possible to simultaneously stimulate replacement purchases of air conditioners and reduce life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. Specifically, I showed that such changes would have made it possible to simultaneously increase replacement purchases of air conditioners by 6.5% and reduce life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions by 0.4% in 2013. Although the emission reduction effect under such a combined scenario may be small, both the economic and environmental benefits should be considered in policies.

The model proposed in this study is capable of concretely indicating technological target values that the air conditioning industry should aim for in the effort to cut  $CO_2$  emissions. The model makes it possible to formulate more efficient measures for reducing  $CO_2$  emissions associated with durable goods.

### Appendix 3A

Table 3A. Annual new shipments of residential air conditioners in Japan

Year	Annual new shipments of	Year	Annual new shipments of
	residential air conditioners in Japan		residential air conditioners in Japan
1972	1499171	1993	5081736
1973	2152370	1994	7316391
1974	2050003	1995	7988333
1975	2049782	1996	8248031
1976	2249268	1997	6272249
1977	2556023	1998	6724606
1978	3446260	1999	6437707
1979	3470707	2000	7192303
1980	2105361	2001	7521359
1981	2387442	2002	6866051
1982	1917207	2003	6465568
1983	2532550	2004	7036933
1984	3029888	2005	7573317
1985	3674532	2006	7416903
1986	3646413	2007	7382136
1987	4218736	2008	7579023
1988	4552774	2009	6906155
1989	5066673	2010	8338230
1990	6590422	2011	8302926
1991	7364120	2012	8520979
1992	5680544	2013	9422757

### Appendix 3B

Table 3B. Annual electricity consumption of an "average" residential air conditioner

	Annual electricity consumption of
Production year	an "average" residential air
	conditioner (unit: kWh)
1995	1492
1996	1302
1997	1201
1998	1159
1999	1068
2000	1017
2001	990
2002	947
2003	963
2004	945
2005	919
2006	882
2007	865
2008	858
2009	849
2010	872
2011	845
2012	846
2013	844

Note: The "average" air conditioner is an air conditioner with energy efficiency of 2.8 kW (sufficient to cool a room of approx. 18 m<sup>2</sup>).

### Appendix 3C



Figure 3A. Difference in life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions relative to baseline scenario, for each

change scenario where average lifetime is ranged from  $\mu = 9.6$  to  $\mu = 15.6$ 

# Chapter 4 Comprehensive analysis of roles of technology, product lifetime, and energy efficiency for climate mitigation

### 4.1 Introduction

In chapter 3, I estimated the reduction potential of change in product lifetime and energy efficiency on CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from air conditioners in Japan. I also showed a target value of improvement rate of the energy efficiency for conducting scrappage schemes. However, I could not consider technologies of industries associated with manufacturing and using air conditioners including supply chains in chapter 3. It is indispensable to consider comprehensively CO<sub>2</sub> reduction measures of durable goods including the other industries that are surrounding with air conditioners for realizing effective CO<sub>2</sub> emission reduction. In addition, the target value of improvement rate of energy efficiency in use of air conditioners showed in chapter 3 is for conducting scrappage schemes. More concretely, it is improvement rate necessary for compensating for CO<sub>2</sub> reduction achieved by one year product lifetime extension. On the other hand, CO<sub>2</sub> reduction targets determined in international agreements for climate mitigation such as Kyoto protocol and Paris Agreement are set based on intertemporal CO<sub>2</sub>

emissions. Therefore, a target value of improvement rate of energy efficiency of air conditioners corresponding to the  $CO_2$  reduction targets determined in those international agreements is necessary for achieving resolution of global warming.

Some previous studies analyzed environmental burdens from durable goods considering technologies of the other industries than durable goods industries themselves. For example, Kagawa *et al.* (2008) quantitatively analyzed the degree to which extending the lifetime of passenger vehicles reduces the energy consumption arising from passenger vehicles and gasoline. Estimated the impacts of product lifetime extension of automobiles on income and energy consumption in Japan with a social accounting method.

Those previous studies conducted more comprehensive discussion including technologies of the other industries than durable goods sectors itself such as supply chains. However, they did not discuss CO<sub>2</sub> emission reduction from durable goods simultaneously considering the following three points that are critically important for environmental burdens from durable goods; product lifetime, energy efficiency and industrial technology surrounding durable goods production and use. Motivated to redress these shortcomings, I focused on sales of new household air conditioners in Japan between 1972 and 2005 and estimated the impact on the life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions derived from industrial technology changes surrounding air conditioner production and use, product lifetime changes, and energy efficiency improvements of air conditioners. In doing so, I proposed a comprehensive structural decomposition analysis including two factors of average lifetime and energy efficiency trend of household air conditioners and applied the decomposition method to the Japanese environmental input-output tables of 1990, 1995, 2000, and 2005. From the results, I examined the roles that the technology, lifetime, and energy efficiency of household air conditioners have played in global warming, and also proposed concrete policy options for the government and air conditioning industry regarding demand- and technology-related initiatives for reducing CO<sub>2</sub> emissions.

The remainder of this paper is organized as follows: Section 4.2 explains the methodology, Section 4.3 describes the data, Section 4.4 presents the results, and finally Section 4.5 offers a conclusion.

### 4.2 Methodology

4.2.1 Estimating life-cycle  $CO_2$  emissions of household air conditioners with environmental input-output framework including effects of change in product lifetime and energy efficiency

I apply an environmental input–output framework to conduct the comprehensive decomposition analysis as I mentioned in section 4.1. In accordance with an environmental input–output analysis (Leontief, 1970; Munksgaard *et al.*, 2000; Mongelli *et al.*, 2006; Turner *et al.*, 2007; Peters, 2008; Andrew *et al.*, 2009; Miller and Blair, 2009; Nansai *et al.*, 2009, 2015; Müller and Schebek, 2013; Shigetomi *et al.*, 2014, 2015), life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions of household air conditioners at year *t* in Japan for average lifetime  $\mu$  and reduction rate of technological critical value of annual electricity consumption  $\varepsilon$ ,  $C_i(\mu, \varepsilon)$  can be estimated as follows:

$$C_{t}(\mu,\varepsilon) = \mathbf{e}_{t} \left(\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{A}_{t}\right)^{-1} \mathbf{F}_{t,ac}(\mu,\varepsilon) = \mathbf{e}_{t} \mathbf{L}_{t} \mathbf{F}_{t,ac}(\mu,\varepsilon)$$
(4.1)

where  $\mathbf{e}_t = (e_{t,i})$  is the CO<sub>2</sub> emission coefficient row vector expressing the direct

CO<sub>2</sub> emissions per unit production of industry *i* in year *t*, **I** is an identity matrix,  $\mathbf{A}_{t} = (a_{t,ij})$  is the technical coefficient matrix expressing the intermediate input from industry *i* necessary per unit production of industry *j* in year *t*,  $\mathbf{L}_{t}$  is the Leontief inverse matrix expressing the direct and indirect intermediate inputs into industry *j* from industry *i* in year *t*, and  $\mathbf{F}_{t,ac}(\mu, \varepsilon)$  is the final demand vector for household air conditioners for a average lifetime  $\mu$  and a reduction rate of technological critical value of annual electricity consumption  $\varepsilon$ . Note the definition  $\mathbf{L}_{t} = (\mathbf{I} - \mathbf{A}_{t})^{-1}$ .

The final demand for household air conditioners in year t can be formularized as follows:

where,  $f_{t,ac}(\mu)$ ,  $f_{t,tran}(\mu)$ ,  $f_{t,com}(\mu)$  are the final demand of household air conditioners, the transportation margin and commercial margin associated with new purchase of air conditioners in year t on an average lifetime  $\mu$  respectively, and  $f_{t,elec}(\mu,\varepsilon)$  is the electricity demand for operating air conditioners in year t on average lifetime  $\mu$  and the reduction rate of annual electricity consumption  $\varepsilon$ .

Here, the final demand for household air conditioners can be calculated by multiplying the production price per air conditioner unit  $p_{sc}$  (yen) by the number of new air conditioners sold  $B(\mu)$ , that is, as  $p_{sc}B(\mu)$ . The corresponding electricity demand for operating these air conditioners can be calculated by obtaining the electricity consumption for each year of manufacture, by multiplying the number of air conditioners of each year of manufacture that are in use each year  $\varphi_{r,i}(\mu)B(\mu)$  by the electricity consumption per unit for each year of manufacture for a reduction rate of technological critical value of annual electricity consumption  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\lambda_i(\varepsilon)$  (kWh), and also by the unit price of electricity  $p_{elec}$  (yen/kWh), as  $p_{elec}\lambda_i(\varepsilon)\varphi_{r-i}(\mu)B_i(\mu)$ , and then finally summing over the years of manufacture *i*. In Eq. (4.2), I can multiply the number of new household air conditioners sold  $B_i(\mu)$  by the transportation margin per unit,  $p_{rmn}$  (yen), and the commercial margin per unit,  $p_{com}$  (yen), to obtain the transportation margin and commercial margin, respectively, associated with household air conditioners. Note that the final demand vector expressed by Eq. (4.2) is influenced by changes in both the average lifetime of household air conditioners  $\mu$  and the reduction rate of the technological critical value of annual electricity consumption  $\varepsilon$ . In this study, the survival rate of air conditioners  $\varphi_{t-i}(\mu)$  follows a Weibull distribution as described in Eq. (3.1) at chapter 3. I also use the calculation methodologies of the number of new air conditioners sold for average lifetime  $\mu$ ,  $B_i(\mu)$  ( $B_i(\mu)$ ), and the annual electricity consumption per air conditioner unit manufactured in year *i* for a reduction rate of technological critical value of annual electricity consumption  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\lambda_i(\varepsilon)$ , same as chapter 3.

4.2.2 Structural decomposition analysis of the life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions of household air conditioners

Using Eq. (4.1), for the baseline scenario with average lifetime  $\mu = \overline{\mu} = 12.6$  and the relative reduction of the technological limit of annual electricity consumption  $\varepsilon = 0$ , the difference in CO<sub>2</sub> emissions derived from household air conditioners between year t and year t' (<t),  $\Delta C$ , can be formularized as

$$\Delta C = C_t(\overline{\mu}, 0) - C_{t'}(\overline{\mu}, 0)$$
  
=  $\mathbf{e}_t \mathbf{L}_t \mathbf{F}_{t,ac}(\overline{\mu}, 0) - \mathbf{e}_{t'} \mathbf{L}_{t'} \mathbf{F}_{t',ac}(\overline{\mu}, 0)$  (4.3)

Using a structural decomposition analysis (e.g., Ang, 1995, 2004; Lin and Polenske, 1995; Dietzenbacher and Los, 1998; Sun, 1998; Kagawa and Inamura, 2001; Ang *et al.*, 2003, 2009; Hoekstra and van den Bergh, 2003; Dietzenbacher and Stage, 2006; Guan *et al.*, 2008, 2009; Wachsmann *et al.*, 2009; Zhang, 2009; Su and Ang, 2012; Lenzen, 2016),  $\Delta C$  can be broken down further as follows:

$$\Delta C = \frac{1}{6} \Delta \mathbf{e} \left\{ 2 \mathbf{L}_{t'} \mathbf{F}_{t',ac}(\bar{\mu}, 0) + \mathbf{L}_{t} \mathbf{F}_{t',ac}(\bar{\mu}, 0) + \mathbf{L}_{t'} \mathbf{F}_{t,ac}(\bar{\mu}, 0) + 2 \mathbf{L}_{t} \mathbf{F}_{t,ac}(\bar{\mu}, 0) \right\}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{6} \left\{ 2 \mathbf{e}_{t'} \mathbf{L}_{t} \Delta \mathbf{A} \mathbf{L}_{t'} \mathbf{F}_{t',ac}(\bar{\mu}, 0) + \mathbf{e}_{t} \mathbf{L}_{t} \Delta \mathbf{A} \mathbf{L}_{t'} \mathbf{F}_{t',ac}(\bar{\mu}, 0) + \mathbf{e}_{t'} \mathbf{L}_{t} \Delta \mathbf{A} \mathbf{L}_{t'} \mathbf{F}_{t,ac}(\bar{\mu}, 0) + 2 \mathbf{e}_{t} \mathbf{L}_{t} \Delta \mathbf{A} \mathbf{L}_{t'} \mathbf{F}_{t,ac}(\bar{\mu}, 0) \right\}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{6} \left\{ 2 \mathbf{e}_{t'} \mathbf{L}_{t'} + \mathbf{e}_{t} \mathbf{L}_{t'} + \mathbf{e}_{t'} \mathbf{L}_{t} + 2 \mathbf{e}_{t} \mathbf{L}_{t} \right\} \Delta \mathbf{F}_{ac}$$

$$(4.4)$$

where  $\Delta \mathbf{e} = \mathbf{e}_t - \mathbf{e}_{t'}$ ,  $\Delta \mathbf{A} = \mathbf{A}_t - \mathbf{A}_{t'}$  and  $\Delta \mathbf{F}_{ac} = \mathbf{F}_{t,ac}(\bar{\mu}, 0) - \mathbf{F}_{t',ac}(\bar{\mu}, 0)$ . The first, second, and third terms on the right-hand side of Eq. (4.4) express respectively the impacts of changes in the direct CO<sub>2</sub> emission coefficient row vector, the technical coefficient matrix, and the final demand vector for household air conditioners on CO<sub>2</sub> emissions derived from household air conditioners.

In accordance with Kagawa *et al.* (2008), the changes in direct  $CO_2$  emission coefficient and technical coefficient in an arbitrary industry *j* can respectively be expressed as

$$\Delta \mathbf{e}_{j} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \cdots & & & & \\ 0 & \cdots & & & & \\ 0 & \cdots & & & & \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & & & & \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & & & & \\ 0 & \cdots & \\ 0 &$$

where m is the number of industrial sectors. If I substitute Eqs. (4.5) and (4.6) into the structural decomposition equation, Eq. (4.4), I obtained the following detailed structural decomposition equation:

$$\Delta C = \frac{1}{6} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \Delta \mathbf{e}_{j} \left\{ 2\mathbf{L}_{t'} \mathbf{F}_{t',ac}(\overline{\mu}, 0) + \mathbf{L}_{t} \mathbf{F}_{t',qc}(\overline{\mu}, 0) + \mathbf{L}_{t'} \mathbf{F}_{t,ac}(\overline{\mu}, 0) + 2\mathbf{L}_{t} \mathbf{F}_{t,ac}(\overline{\mu}, 0) \right\}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{6} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \left\{ 2\mathbf{e}_{t'} \mathbf{L}_{t} \Delta \mathbf{A}_{j} \mathbf{L}_{t'} \mathbf{F}_{t',ac}(\overline{\mu}, 0) + \mathbf{e}_{t} \mathbf{L}_{t} \Delta \mathbf{A}_{j} \mathbf{L}_{t'} \mathbf{F}_{t',ac}(\overline{\mu}, 0) + \mathbf{e}_{t'} \mathbf{L}_{t} \Delta \mathbf{A}_{j} \mathbf{L}_{t'} \mathbf{F}_{t,ac}(\overline{\mu}, 0) + 2\mathbf{e}_{t} \mathbf{L}_{t} \Delta \mathbf{A}_{j} \mathbf{L}_{t'} \mathbf{F}_{t,ac}(\overline{\mu}, 0) \right\}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{6} \left\{ 2\mathbf{e}_{t'} \mathbf{L}_{t'} + \mathbf{e}_{t} \mathbf{L}_{t'} + 2\mathbf{e}_{t} \mathbf{L}_{t} \right\} \Delta \mathbf{F}_{ac}$$

$$(4.7)$$

4.2.3 Scenario analysis of effect of change in product lifetime and energy efficiency of air conditioners on the life-cycle CO<sub>2</sub> emissions

We also conduct a scenario analysis of effects of change in product lifetime and energy efficiency of air conditioners in Japan for evaluating CO<sub>2</sub> emission reduction potential of those changes. The effects of product lifetime change from  $\mu = 12.6$  to  $\mu^*$  and a  $(100 \times \varepsilon)$ % reduction of energy efficiency of air conditioners from current level on the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from year t to year t',  $\Delta C(\mu^*, \varepsilon)$ , can be calculated with Eq. (4.1) as follows.

$$\Delta C(\mu^*, \varepsilon) = C_t(\overline{\mu}, 0) - C_{t'}(\mu^*, \varepsilon)$$
  
=  $\mathbf{e}_t \mathbf{L}_t \mathbf{F}_{t,ac}(\overline{\mu}, 0) - \mathbf{e}_{t'} \mathbf{L}_{t'} \mathbf{F}_{t',ac}(\mu^*, \varepsilon)$  (4.8)

In this study, I estimated the change in  $CO_2$  emissions of air conditioners due to change in product lifetime and energy efficiency from 1990 and 2005. I calculate the  $CO_2$  emission change for different values of  $\mu^*$  and  $\varepsilon$  using Eq. (4.8). I follow the same methodologies of changing average lifetime and energy efficiency as explained section 3.2.4 in chapter 3.

### 4.3 Data

In this study, I performed an analysis using 1990–1995–2000–2005 linked environmental input–output tables for Japan (397 sectors), based on producer's prices for 2005, as estimated by Nansai *et al.* (2009).

I determined the producer's price per household air conditioner unit,  $p_{ac}$ , to be an average of 66,842 yen/unit, by calculating a weighted average of air conditioner prices based on production output and performance values from an input–output table for 2005 in Japan. In addition, by dividing the production output of household air conditioner parts, fittings, and accessories, recorded in a 2005 input–output table, by the total production of air conditioners, I calculated the expense of parts, fittings, and accessories per household air conditioner unit and added this installation expense to the average air conditioner price determined earlier to arrive at a total household air conditioner producer's price  $p_{ac}$  of 77,024 yen. For the electricity price  $p_{elec}$ , I used 16.15 yen/kWh, which is the weighted average price of electric power for the commercial sector based on production output and power generation methods, according to the Japanese 2005 input–output table.

To obtain the transportation margin  $p_{tran}$  and commercial margin  $p_{com}$  for the household air conditioner sector, I divided the transportation margin and commercial margin for the household air conditioner sector given in the Japanese 2005 input–output table by the number of new household air conditioner units sold in 2005,  $B_{2005}(\bar{\mu})$ , published by the Japan Refrigeration and Air Conditioning Industry Association (JRAIA).

I obtained the direct CO<sub>2</sub> emission coefficient vector  $\mathbf{e}_t$  from the Japanese 1990–1995–2000–2005 linked environmental input–output tables for Japan, based on the producer's price for 2005, as estimated by Nansai *et al.* (2009).

### 4.4 Results

#### 4.4.1. Decomposition effects

Figure 4.1 shows the results of decomposition on the change in CO<sub>2</sub> emissions associated with final demand for household air conditioners for the 5-year periods from 1990 to 1995, from 1995 to 2000, and from 2000 to 2005, as well as for the period from 1990 to 2005, due to five primary factors: (1) change in the direct  $CO_2$  emission coefficient in the household air conditioner sector, (2) changes in the direct  $CO_2$  emission coefficients in other sectors, (3) change in the technical coefficients in other sectors, and (5) change in the final demand related to household air conditioners (purchase and use of air conditioners). From Fig. 4.1, we can see that for the 15-year period from 1990 to 2005, total emissions of  $CO_2$  derived from household air conditioners increased by 1.47 Mt-CO<sub>2</sub>, which corresponds to an increase of 16.5% relative to the 1990 level of emissions.

Looking at the results of this structural decomposition analysis, focusing on the

period from 1990 to 2005, we can see that the change in final demand related to household air conditioners, including air conditioner purchase and electricity consumption in using air conditioners, contributes  $3.57 \text{ Mt-CO}_2$  of emissions, which represents a major factor in global warming. On the other hand, the change in technical coefficient in the household air conditioner sector and changes in the direct CO<sub>2</sub> emission coefficients in other sectors both tend to reduce emissions, making contributions of -1.22 and  $-0.69 \text{ Mt-CO}_2$ , respectively. The contributions of the change in direct CO<sub>2</sub> emission coefficient of the household air conditioner and the change in technical coefficients in other sectors were -0.12 and  $0.07 \text{ Mt-CO}_2$ , respectively, which both represent very small impacts on emissions over the 15-year period.

Looking at the role played by final demand associated with household air conditioners on global warming, we can see that over the 5-year period from 1990 to 1995, the change in final demand drove up emissions by a remarkable 3.11 Mt-CO<sub>2</sub>, a huge contribution to global warming (see Fig. 4.1). However, over the two periods from 1995 to 2000 and from 2000 to 2005, although the change in final demand still contributed to increasing emissions, the impact was very small. The contributions to increasing emissions were only 0.57 and 0.04 Mt-CO<sub>2</sub>, respectively, in the two periods.

From these results, I can conclude that over the 10-year period from 1995 to 2005, the role played by final demand associated with household air conditioners on global warming diminished greatly.

Interestingly, over the 10-year period from 1990 to 2000, the changes in the direct  $CO_2$  emission coefficients of the other industrial sectors (except for household air conditioner sector) had the overall effect of reducing  $CO_2$  emissions, but conversely, in the 5-year period from 2000 to 2005, this same factor made a strong contribution to increasing emissions, by 1.64 Mt- $CO_2$ . That is, this factor played a crucial role in global warming than final demand related to the household air conditioner sector (purchase and use of air conditioners) in the 5-year period. (see Fig. 4.1). This result indicates that in terms of reducing  $CO_2$  emissions derived from household air conditioners, promoting demand for replacement air conditioners that consume less electricity is important from an economic perspective, but also indicates that it is important to take measures to reduce  $CO_2$  emissions from other upstream industries that produce the materials and parts necessary for manufacturing air conditioners.

Change in the technology of the household air conditioner industry contributed to

reducing  $CO_2$  emissions consistently throughout the period from 1990 to 2005 (Fig. 4.1), which indicates that a strong effort was made to reduce  $CO_2$  emissions by improving technology used in the manufacture of household air conditioners. The  $CO_2$  reduction by technological change in the "Household air-conditioner sector" accounted for 62% of the total emissions reduction from the technological change of all industries.



Figure 4.1 Structural decomposition results of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions associated with household

air conditioners in Japan between 1990 and 2005

### 4.4.2 Industrial emission intensity effects

As described in the previous section, it is important to curb the emissions of CO<sub>2</sub>
associated with the production of goods and services necessary for the manufacture and use of household air conditioners. Figure 4.2 shows a ranking of industrial sectors in terms of how much impact the change in the direct  $CO_2$  emission coefficient of each sector had on  $CO_2$  emissions derived from household air conditioners over the 15-year period from 1990 to 2005. The 10 sectors that contributed most to increasing and reducing emissions are listed. Figure 4.2 shows that the change in the direct  $CO_2$ emission coefficient of the "Electricity sector" made the biggest contribution to reducing emissions. The sector that contributed most to increasing emissions between 1990 and 2005 was "On-site power generation sector." The change in the emission coefficient of this sector made a contribution of +137 kt- $CO_2$ . The next highest ranking sectors were "Pig iron", at +52 kt- $CO_2$ , and "Air transport", at +23 kt- $CO_2$ .

In the period from 1990 to 2005, the net effect of the changes in direct  $CO_2$  emission coefficients was -804 kt- $CO_2$ , a net reduction in  $CO_2$  emissions derived from household air conditioners. In the most recent 5-year period, from 2000 to 2005, however, the net impact of the changes was a substantial increase in  $CO_2$  emissions (1633 kt- $CO_2$ ), so clearly reducing the direct  $CO_2$  emission coefficient of the supply chain for household air conditioners plays an important role in mitigating global warming.



Figure 4.2 Impact of changes in direct CO<sub>2</sub> emission coefficients of different industrial

sectors on CO<sub>2</sub> emissions derived from household air conditioners between 1990 and 2005 (The percentages mean ratios of each effect in total emissions increase or reduction.)

4.4.3 Industrial technology effects

Figure 4.3 shows the impact of the technological change in each industrial sector on the  $CO_2$  emissions derived from household air conditioners over the period from 1990 to 2005, listing the 10 sectors that contributed the most to increasing and reducing emissions. The change in the "Integrated circuits sector" was by far the biggest contributor to reducing emissions (-326 kt-CO<sub>2</sub>), followed in order by "Coal mining, Crude petroleum, and Natural gas" (-122 kt-CO<sub>2</sub>).

At the same time, Fig. 4.3 reveals that the impact of technological change in the three sectors "Retail trade", "Electricity", and "Liquid crystal elements", amounting to +174, +91, and +55 kt-CO<sub>2</sub>, respectively, had the effect of dampening the emissions-cutting effect of technological improvement in the "Household air conditioner sector". Here it is necessary for household air conditioner sector to cooperate with these sectors when trying to reduce the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions generated in association with air conditioner manufacture and use. However, any policies or measures aimed at reducing emissions that link the technologies of these sectors require considerable time, effort, and money, making them difficult to realize in practice.



Figure 4.3 Impact of changes in technology coefficients in different industrial sectors on

CO<sub>2</sub> emissions derived from household air conditioners between 1990 and 2005 (The percentages mean ratios of each effect in total emissions increase or reduction.)

4.4.4 Role of product lifetime and energy efficiency in CO<sub>2</sub> emissions

Therefore, it is clearly worth examining two highly effective approaches to reducing emissions. The first is reducing  $CO_2$  emissions by shortening the service life (use time) of older household air conditioners requiring relatively high electricity consumption,

that is, shortening product lifetime. In this case,  $CO_2$  emissions during operation are reduced because old air conditioners are replaced by new, more energy-efficient air conditioners sooner. However, the number of new household air conditioners that are manufactured increases, thereby increasing  $CO_2$  emissions in manufacturing.

The second countermeasure is to improve the energy efficiency (i.e., reduce electricity consumption) of household air conditioners during operation. As the electricity consumption of household air conditioners during operation declines in response to technological advances,  $CO_2$  emissions arising from the use of air conditioners naturally decrease. It would be useful, then, to analyze how effective each of these two measures is in terms of reducing  $CO_2$  emissions derived from household air conditioners, and also how much  $CO_2$  emissions a combination of these two measures could reduce.

Figure 4.4 shows the CO<sub>2</sub> potential of product lifetime change and technological limit improvement of annual electricity consumption. The vertical axis of Fig. 4.4 represents the reduction rate of the critical value of annual electricity consumption  $\mathcal{E}$ , while the horizontal axis represents the change in average product lifetime relative to

the baseline average lifetime, 12.6 years,  $\Delta \mu$ . A deeper shade of blue indicates a greater reduction in emissions due to the changes in average lifetime and in the critical value of electricity consumption. Conversely, a deeper shade of red indicates a greater increase in emissions.

From Fig. 4.4, we see that the further we go towards the top right of Fig. 4.4, the deeper the blue, that is, the greater the reduction in  $CO_2$  emissions derived from household air conditioners. Therefore, as the product lifetime is extended and electricity consumption is reduced, a reduction in emissions is realized. Considering the distribution of colors in this color map, it appears that improving electricity consumption might be more effective than extending product lifetime for achieving a particular reduction in  $CO_2$  emissions. When product lifetime is extended, the reduction in  $CO_2$  emissions due to manufacturing fewer new air conditioners is offset by the increase in emissions due to the increased operation time of older air conditioners. On the other hand, since improving electricity consumption does not lead to more emissions during manufacture, it is a more sure and effective way of reducing  $CO_2$  emissions.

In order to have maintained the CO2 emissions derived from household air

conditioners in 2005 at their 1990 level for the current average lifetime (i.e.,  $\Delta \mu = 0$ ), it would have been necessary to reduce the technological critical value of energy performance by a further 19.1% below its current level ( $\varepsilon = 0.191$ ) (see Fig. 4.4). In this way, to maintain the 1990 level of emissions without adopting measures to shorten air conditioner lifetime (i.e., measures to stimulate demand for new air conditioners), it would have been necessary for the air conditioner industry to improve its energy performance by about 19% over the current energy performance target ( $\hat{K} = 824$ kWh; see Fig. 3.1). If air conditioner lifetime were shortened by 1 year and measures were taken to stimulate demand for new air conditioners having relatively low electricity consumption, in order to maintain emissions in 2005 at the 1990 level, it would have been necessary to improve the energy performance target by 20.6%. Conversely, if air conditioner lifetime were extended by 1 year and measures were taken to prolong possession period of air conditioners, it would have been necessary to improve the energy performance target by only 17.8% in order to maintain emissions in 2005 at the 1990 level.



Change in the average lifetime of air conditioner (unit: years)  $(\Delta \mu)$ 

Figure 4.4 CO<sub>2</sub> emission change potentials for the period from 1990 to 2005 under the

combined scenario of average lifetime change and limit electricity

consumption change (unit: Mt-CO<sub>2</sub>)

(The values of  $\varepsilon$  written in the boxes express relative reduction of the critical value of annual electricity consumption necessary for maintain CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in 2005 at 1990 level on each lifetime scenario)

### 4.5 Conclusion and Policy Implications

In this study, using a structural decomposition analysis, I analyzed the main factors influencing the change in CO<sub>2</sub> emissions derived from household air conditioners in

Japan between 1990 and 2005. In addition, I clearly identified the product lifetime of household air conditioners and the degree of improvement in their energy efficiency (electricity consumption) that would have been necessary to maintain  $CO_2$  emissions in 2005 at the 1990 level.

Firstly, I found that the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions derived from the manufacture and use of household air conditioners increased by 1.47 Mt-CO<sub>2</sub> between 1990 and 2005. An important point is that, although on the one hand technological improvement in the household air conditioner sector accounted for a reduction of 1,342 kt-CO<sub>2</sub> in emissions, at the same time, other sectors providing goods and services necessary for the manufacture and sale of household air conditioners, such as retail trade and liquid crystal elements, contributed substantially to increasing emissions. Although it is definitely important to try to reduce emissions across the entire supply chain of the household air conditioner sector, it should also be understood that emission reduction measures that link the technologies of different industries require considerable time, effort, and expense.

Technology policy that focuses on improving industrial technology is important, but

so too is policy that stimulates demand for replacing durable consumer goods sooner with new, more energy-efficient models (i.e., measures that shorten product lifetime). In this study, I determined that if the average lifetime of household air conditioners sold in Japan between 1972 and 2005 had been shortened by 1 year, then assuming an average annual production of 5 million units (total cumulative sales between 1972 and 2005 = 171 million / 33 years), maintaining CO<sub>2</sub> emissions at the 1990 level would have required approximately a further 20.6% reduction in the energy efficiency (electricity consumption) improvement target, from 824 to 654 kW. Since annual electricity consumption of air conditioners has been hardly improved recently (Agency for Natural Resources and Energy, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014), however, the further reduction may be difficult for air conditioner industry. We should another measure, which is to promote extension of using air conditioners and lighten the improvement target. In this case, I showed the energy performance target as 17.8% if average lifetime of air conditioners was extended by 1 years. In light of this analysis of the environmental impact of new product penetration and energy efficiency (electricity consumption) improvement, the government and air conditioner industry need to urgently institute measures to cut CO<sub>2</sub> emissions.

There are two conceivable approaches to achieving reductions in the  $CO_2$  emissions derived from durable consumer goods: adopting policies that promote earlier replacement and at the same time set higher minimum energy efficiency standards for products, or adopting policies to promote later replacement and at the same time reducing the burden of meeting energy efficiency standards. Obviously, these are completely opposite in their orientation. In this study, I quantitatively demonstrated the combination of product lifetime and energy efficiency target improvement rate necessary to maintain  $CO_2$  emissions at the 1990 level, and this result is useful in determining which of the two above approaches is best.

### **Chapter 5 Conclusion**

This doctoral dissertation focused on  $CO_2$  emissions derived from air conditioners in Japan as a case study and discussed how we should reduce the  $CO_2$  emissions from viewpoints of product lifetime, energy efficiency, and industrial technologies surrounding air conditioners in Japan.

In chapter 3, I statistically modeled product lifetime and trend of energy efficiency of air conditioners in Japan by Weibull distribution function and reverse logistic function respectively. After that, I estimated  $CO_2$  emissions derived from air conditioners in Japan using those models of product lifetime and energy efficiency and evaluated the impacts of changes in product lifetime and energy efficiency of air conditioners on the  $CO_2$  emission in Japan. I compared the total  $CO_2$  emissions when product lifetime is shortened and extended by 1 year respectively and found that extending product lifetime can reduce the  $CO_2$  emissions rather than shortening product lifetime. I also estimated total  $CO_2$  emissions when energy efficiency improves by 5%, 10%, and 15% and also found that total  $CO_2$  emissions when energy efficiency improve by 5% is lower than those when product lifetime is extended by 1 year and energy efficiency improvement seems to reduce more CO<sub>2</sub> emissions than product lifetime extension. Moreover, I focused on CO<sub>2</sub> emission increase due to shortening product lifetime caused by scrappage schemes and conducted combined scenario analyses about changes in product lifetime and energy efficiency for estimating a target value of energy efficiency improvement to conduct scrappage schemes. I showed that even if product lifetime becomes 1 year shorter due to conducting scrappage schemes, by 1.4% improvement of energy efficiency from the current level, we can obtain the same CO<sub>2</sub> emission reduction as product lifetime extension by 1 year.

In chapter 4, I connected both the models of product lifetime and energy efficiency in chapter 3 with environmental input-output model and constructed a comprehensive analytical framework for  $CO_2$  emissions induced by air conditioners in Japan during a period from 1990 to 2005. I applied a structural decomposition analysis and combined scenario analyses for discussing how we should reduce the  $CO_2$  emissions in terms of product lifetime, energy efficiency, and industrial technologies surrounding air conditioner production and use. From the results by structural decomposition analysis, I could find that while air conditioner sector itself had contributed to reducing the  $CO_2$ emissions, the other industrial sectors such as retail trade sector and pig iron sector had contributed to increasing the  $CO_2$  emissions during the period in Japan. Through the combined scenario analysis, I showed the improvement rate of energy efficiency necessary for holding the  $CO_2$  emissions in 2005 at those in 1990. Concretely, if the product lifetime was shortened by 1 year, energy efficiency improvement by 20.6% would have been necessary for maintain the  $CO_2$  emissions in 2005 at the 1990 level. Conversely, if the product lifetime was extended by 1 year, energy efficiency improvement by 17.8% would have been necessary for maintain the  $CO_2$  emissions in 2005 at the 1990 level. 2005 at the 1990 level.

As I mentioned above, this doctoral dissertation shows  $CO_2$  reduction potential of product lifetime change and energy efficiency improvement, quantitative target values of improvement rate of energy efficiency necessary for each corresponding  $CO_2$ reduction target, and contribution of each industry sector to  $CO_2$  emissions derived from air conditioners. These findings in this dissertation are very important information for discussing about the  $CO_2$  reduction policies. In that point, this doctoral dissertation can contribute to developing discussion for reducing  $CO_2$  emissions derived from air conditioners in Japan. The analysis framework presented in this dissertation is not limited to air conditioners; it can be applied to other durable consumer goods such as automobiles, TVs, and refrigerators. In any case, it can serve as a useful framework for formulating policies and measures for reducing  $CO_2$  emissions in connection with durable consumer goods and consumer lifestyles.

## Acknowledgement

For completing this dissertation for the degree of Ph.D. in Economics, A lot of kind assistance and helps from many people was indispensable.

First of all, I would like to give my great appreciation to my supervisor, Prof. Shigemi Kagawa in Kyushu University. Although I asked him to study in his laboratory immediately after I had quitted my former job, he kindly accepted me and made his efforts to starting my research activity without any complaint. Moreover, he not only taught and instructed my research but also encouraged me to progress my study toward better direction. He also gave me many opportunities for becoming good researcher such as writing journal papers, domestic and international conference, research workshop, joint seminar, inviting excellent researchers and etcetera during my student's life. Thanks to his great assistance for me, I could write this assertion and have very fantastic experiences. I respect his character and brief as a researcher and I would like to express my great appreciation for Prof. Shigemi Kagawa.

Prof. Toshiyuki Fujita and Assoc. Prof. Nobuhiro Horii in Faculty of Economics in Kyushu University gave me a lot of precious and helpful comments for my dissertation especially from viewpoints of economics and policy implication. Without their deep insight and knowledge, I could not improve my dissertation better than what that was. I am very thankful to them.

During the degree of my graduate school, I was supported by Dr. Keisuke Nansai and Dr. Masahiro Oguchi in National Institute for Environmental Studies, Prof. Yasushi Kondo in Waseda University. Especially, Dr. Masahiro Oguchi not only gave many helpful comments and suggestions for my study but also gave me opportunities for studying at National Institute for Environmental Studies and attending research meetings and conferences. Dr. Keisuke Nansai also gave me beneficial advice and comments and assisted me for improving my study and staying at the institute. Prof. Yasushi Kondo also gave insightful comments to my research at workshops and conferences for making my research better. I could improve my research and make my study life more valuable because of their assistance. I would like to express my great thanks for them.

Every summer, the laboratory of Prof. Shigemi Kagawa holds the joint research workshop with laboratories of Prof. Hiroki Tanikawa in Nagoya University, Prof. Seiji Hasimoto in Ritsumeikan University and Yosuke Shigetomi in Nagasaki University. At the workshop, I could get insightful comments to my research from them and could make a good community with young students in the other laboratories. I am very happy and thankful for getting such opportunities.

I also could have been getting opportunities for communicating with many domestic and international young researchers through international conferences and young researchers meetings. Student Communication Network of The Institute of Life Cycle Assessment, Japan, is one of the organizations that gave me opportunities for communicating with many young researchers especially in Japan and I express great appreciation for it. Moreover, I worked as a chair of young researchers meeting on the 27th conference of Pan Pacific Association of Input-Output Studies (PAPAIOS) and I could have excellent community with young researchers in Japan. This experience is my great honor and pleasure in my life. I would like to express my appreciation for all young researchers I have met.

I also would like to students in Shigemi Kagawa's laboratory. They each have very good personalities and I could enjoy my activities with them in Kyushu University.

They made my life in graduate school of Kyushu University more enjoyable and the experiences with them is my treasure.

Finally, I would like to express my deep appreciation for my parents, my sister, my brother and all people who have met me in my life. Thank you so much.

November 2017

# Daisuke Nishijima

## References

- Agency for Natural Resources and Energy of Japan, 2010. *Energy-saving Performance Catalog 2010 summer* (省エネ性能カタログ 2010 年夏版) (in Japanese).
- Agency for Natural Resources and Energy of Japan, 2011. Energy-saving Performance Catalog 2011 summer (省エネ性能カタログ 2011 年夏版) (in Japanese).
- 3) Agency for Natural Resources and Energy of Japan, 2012. *Energy-saving Performance Catalog 2012 summer* (省エネ性能カタログ 2012 年夏版) (in Japanese).
- Agency for Natural Resources and Energy of Japan, 2013. *Energy-saving Performance Catalog 2013 summer* (省エネ性能カタログ 2013 年夏版) (in Japanese).
- 5) Agency for Natural Resources and Energy of Japan, 2014. *Energy-saving Performance Catalog 2014 summer* (省エネ性能カタログ 2014 年夏版) (in Japanese).
- Agency for Natural Resources and Energy, Japan, 2010. Research report on energy consumption conditions in residential sector (家庭におけるエネルギー消費実態 について) (in Japanese).

- Akpinar-Ferrand, E., Singh A., 2010. Modeling increased demand of energy for air conditioners and consequent CO<sub>2</sub> emissions to minimize health risks due to climate change in India. *Environmental Science & Policy*, vol. 13, pp. 702–712
- Aktas, C. B., Bilec, M. M., 2012. Impact of lifetime on US residential building LCA results. *International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, vol. 17, pp. 337–349.
- Alam, M. S., Hyde, B., Duffy, P., McNabola, A., 2017. Assessment of pathways to reduce CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from passenger car fleets: Case study in Ireland. *Applied Energy*, vol. 189, pp. 283–300.
- Alberini, A., Bigano, A., 2015. How effective are energy-efficiency incentive programs? Evidence from Italian homeowners. *Energy Economics*: vol. 52, pp. S76–S85.
- Andrew, R., Peters, G.P., Lennox, J., 2009. Approximation and regional aggregation in multi-regional input–output for national carbon footprint accounting, *Economic Systems Research*, vol. 21, pp. 311–335.
- Ang, B.W., 1995, Decomposition methodology in industrial energy demand analysis. *Energy*: vol. 20 (11), pp. 1081–1095.
- Ang, B.W., 2004. Decomposition analysis for policy making in energy: which is the preferred method? *Energy Policy*: vol. 32, pp. 1131–1139.

- Ang, B.W., Huang, H.C., Mu, A.R., 2009. Properties and linkages of some index decomposition analysis methods. *Energy Policy*: vol. 37, pp. 4624–4632.
- Ang, B.W., Liu, F.L., Chew, E.P., 2003. Perfect decomposition techniques in energy and environmental analysis. *Energy Policy*: vol. 31, pp. 1561–1566.
- Antweiler, W., Gulati, S, J., 2015. Scrapping for clean air: Emissions savings from the BC SCRAP-IT program. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, vol. 71, pp. 198–214.
- Araújo, M. G., Magrini, A., Mahler, C., F., Bilitewski, B., 2012. A model for estimation of potential generation of waste electrical and electronic equipment in Brazil. *Waste Management*, vol. 32, pp. 335–342.
- Ardente, F., Mathieux, F., 2014. Environmental assessment of the durability of energy-using products: method and application, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 74, pp. 62–73.
- Ayres, R. U., 1995. Life cycle analysis: A critique. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, vol. 14, pp. 199–223.
- 20) Babbitt, C. W., Kahhat, R., Williams, E., Babbitt, G. A., 2009. Evolution of product lifespan and implications for environmental assessment and management: A case

study of personal computers in higher education. *Environmental Science & Technology*, vol. 43 (13), pp. 5106–5112.

- 21) Bakker, C. Wang, F., Huisman, J., Hollander, M. D., 2014. Products that go round: exploring product life extension through design. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 69, pp. 10–16.
- 22) Baltas, N., Xepapadeas, A., 1999. Accelerating vehicle replacement and environmental protection. *Journal of Transport Economics and Policy*, vol. 33, pp. 329–341.
- 23) Baptista, P. C., Silva, C. M., Farias T. L., Heywood, J. B., 2012. Energy and environmental impacts of alternative pathways for the Portuguese road transportation sector. *Energy Policy*, vol. 51, pp. 802–815.
- 24) Basbagill, J., Flager, F., Lepech, M., Fischer, M., 2013. Application of life-cycle assessment to early stage building design for reduced embodied environmental impacts. *Building and Environment*, vol. 60, 81–92.
- 25) Bayus, B. L., 1988. Accelerating the durable replacement cycle with marketing mix variables. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, vol. 5(3), pp. 216–226.
- 26) Beccali, M., Cellura, M., Fontana, M., Longo, S., Mistretta, M., 2013. Energy retrofit of a single-family house: Life cycle net energy saving and environmental

benefits, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, vol. 27, pp. 283–293.

- 27) Beccali, M., Cellura, M., Finocchiaro, P., Guarino, F. Longo, S., Nocke, B., 2014. Life cycle performance assessment of small solar thermal cooling systems and conventional plants assisted with photovoltaics, *Solar Energy*, vol. 104, pp. 93–102.
- 28) Beccali, M., Cellura, M., Longo, S., Guarino, F., 2016. Solar heating and cooling systems versus conventional systems assisted by photovoltaic: Application of a simplified LCA tool, *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells*, vol. 156, pp. 92–100.
- 29) BenDor, T., Ford, A., 2006. Simulating a combination of feebates and scrappage incentives to reduce automobile emissions. *Energy*, vol. 31, pp. 1197–1214.
- Bergsdal, H., Brattebø, H., Bohne, R. A., Müller, D. B., 2007. Dynamic material flow analysis for Norway's dwelling stock. *Building Research & Information*, vol. 35, pp. 557–570.
- Bobba, S., Ardente, F., Mathieux, F., 2016. Environmental and economic assessment of durability of energy-using products: Method and application to a case-study vacuum cleaner. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 137, pp. 762–776.
- 32) Bole, R., 2006. Life-cycle optimization of residential clothes washer replacement. Center of Sustainable Systems. University of Michigan, Ann Arbor. (<u>https://deepblue.lib.umich.edu/bitstream/handle/2027.42/36308/Richard%20Bole</u>

%20Final%20Thesis.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y) (Accessed 30 August, 2017)

- 33) Brand, C., Anable, J., Tran, M., 2013. Accelerating the transformation to a low carbon passenger transport system: The role of car purchase taxes, feebates, road taxes and scrappage incentives in the UK. *Transportation Research Part A*, vol. 49, pp. 132–144.
- 34) Cai, W., Wan, L., Jiang, Y., Wang, C., Lin, L., 2015. Short-lived buildings in China: impacts on water, energy, and carbon emissions. *Environmental Science & Technology*, vol. 49, pp. 13921–13928.
- 35) Cao, Z., Shem, L., Liu, L., Zhao, J., Zhong, S., Kong, H., Sun, Y., 2017. Estimating the in-use cement stock in China: 1920–2013. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, vol. 122, pp. 21-31.
- 36) Cellura, M., Guarino, F., Longo, S., Mistretta, M., 2014. Energy life-cycle approach in net zero energy buildings balance: Operation and embodied energy of an Italian case study, *Energy and Buildings*, vol. 72, pp. 371–381.
- 37) Chalkley, A. M., Harrison, E. B. D., Simpson, G., 2003. Development of a method for calculating the environmentally optimum lifespan of electrical household products. *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers*, vol. 217, pp. 1521–1531.

- 38) Chan, S., Miranda-Moreno, L. F., Alam, A., Hatzopoulou, M., 2013. Assessing the impact of bus technology on greenhouse gas emissions along a major corridor: A lifecycle analysis. *Transportation Research Part D*, vol. 20, pp. 7–11.
- 39) Cheah, L., Heywood, J., Kirchain, R., 2009. Aluminum stock and flows in U.S. passenger vehicles and implications for energy use. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, vol. 13, pp. 718–734.
- 40) Chen, W. Q., Graedel, T. E., 2015. In-use product stocks link manufactured capital to natural capital. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 112(20), pp. 6265–6270.
- Chester, M., Horvath, A., 2012. High-speed rail with emerging automobiles and aircraft can reduce environmental impacts in California's future. *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 7, pp. 1–11.
- 42) Cohen, C., Whitten, B. J., 1988. *Parameter estimation in reliability and life span models*. Marcel Decker, Inc.
- Cooper, T., 2005. Slower consumption: Reflections on product lifetime and the "throwaway society". *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, vol. 9, pp. 51–67.
- 44) Daigo, I., Igarashi, Y., Matsuno, Y., Adachi, Y., 2007. Accounting for steel stock in Japan. *ISIJ International*, vol. 47(7), pp. 1065–1069.

- 45) Daigo,I., Iwata,K., Oguchi,M., Goto,Y., 2015. Changing average lifetime of buildings over time analyzed on the basis of D-based distribution. *Proceedings of Product Lifetime And The Environment (PLATE) 2015 Conference*, pp. 88–92.
- 46) Davis, J., Geyer, R., Ley, J., He, J., Clift, R., Kwan, A., Sansom, M., Jackson, T.,
  2007. Time-dependent material flow analysis of iron and steel in the UK: Part2.
  Scrap generation and recycling. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, vol. 51, pp. 118-140.
- 47) Defra, 2011. Longer Product Lifetimes Final Report (http://randd.defra.gov.uk/Default.aspx?Menu=Menu&Module=More&Location=N one&Completed=2&ProjectID=17047).
- 48) De Kleine, R. D., Keoleian, G. A., Kelly, J. C., 2011. Optimal replacement of residential air conditioning equipment to minimize energy, greenhouse gas emissions, and consumer cost in the US. *Energy Policy*, vol. 39, pp. 3144–3153.
- 49) Deng, L., Babbitt, C. W., Williams, E. D., 2011. Economic-balance hybrid LCA extended with uncertainty analysis: case study of a laptop computer. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 19, pp. 1198–1206.
- 50) DeShazo, J. R., Sheldon, T. L., Carson, R. T., 2017. Designing policy incentives for cleaner technologies: Lessons from California's plug-in electric vehicle rebate

program. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, vol. 84, pp. 18–43.

- Dietzenbacher, E., Los, B., 1998. Structural decomposition techniques: sense and sensitivity. *Economic Systems Research*: vol. 10, pp. 307–323.
- 52) Dietzenbacher, E., Stage, J., 2006. Mixing oil and water? Using hybrid input-output tables in a structural decomposition analysis. *Economic Systems Research*, vol. 18, pp. 85–95.
- 53) Dill, J., 2004. Estimating emissions reductions from accelerated vehicle retirement programs. *Transportation Research Part D*, vol. 9(2), pp. 87–106.
- 54) Du, J. D., Han, W. J., Peng, Y. H., Gu, C. C., Potential for reducing GHG emissions and energy consumption from implementing the aluminum intensive vehicle fleet in China. *Energy*, vol. 35, pp. 4671–4678.
- 55) Elshkaki, A., van der Voet, E., Timmermans, V., Holderbeke, H. V., 2005. Dynamic stock modelling: A method for the identification and estimation of future waste streams and emissions based on past production and product stock characteristics. *Energy*, vol. 30, pp. 1353–1363.
- 56) Eriksson, O., Finnveden, G., Ekvall, T., Björklund, A. 2007, Life cycle assessment of fuels for district heating: A comparison of waste incineration, biomass- and

natural gas combustion. *Energy Policy*, vol. 35, pp. 1346–1362.

- 57) Erumban, A. A., 2008. Lifetimes of machinery and equipment: Evidence from Dutch manufacturing. *Review of Income and Wealth*, vol. 54, pp. 237–268.
- 58) Eryilmaz,S., 2017. Computing optimal replacement time and mean residual life in reliability shock models. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, vol. 103, pp. 40–45.
- European Automobile Manufacturers Association, 2012. Vehicle Scrapping Schemes in the European Union.
- 60) European conference of ministers of transport (ECMT), 1999. *Cleaner cars: Fleet renewal and scrappage schemes*. OECD Publication Service, France.
- Executive Office of the President of the United States, 2009. Economic Analysis of the Car Allowance Rebate System.
- 62) Finocchiaro, P., Beccali, M., Cellura, M., Guarino, F., Longo, S., 2016. Life cycle assessment of a compact desiccant evaporative cooling system: The case study of the "Freescoo", Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells, vol. 156, pp. 83–91.
- 63) Garcia, R., Gregory, J., Freire, F., 2015. Dynamic fleet-based life-cycle greenhouse gas assessment of the introduction of electric vehicles in the Portuguese light-duty fleet. *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, vol. 20, pp. 1287–1299

- 64) Golev, A., Werber T. T., Zhu, X., Matsubae, K., 2016. Product flow analysis using trade statistics and consumer survey data: a case study of mobile phones in Australia. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 133, pp. 262–271.
- 65) Grignon-Massé, L., Rivière, P., Adnot, J., 2011. Strategies for reducing the environmental impacts of room air conditioners in Europe. *Energy Policy*, vol. 39, pp. 2152–2164.
- 66) Guan, D., Hubacek, K., Weber, C.L., Peters, G.P., Reiner, D. M., 2008. The drivers of Chinese CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from 1980 to 2030. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 18, pp. 626–634.
- 67) Guan, D., Peters, G.P., Weber, C.L., Hubacek, K., 2009. Journey to world top emitter: An analysis of the driving forces of China's recent CO<sub>2</sub> emissions surge, *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 36.
- 68) Guo, X., Yan, K., 2017. Estimation of obsolete cellular phones generation: A case study of China. *Science of The Total Environment*, vol. 575, pp. 321–329.
- 69) Hanssen, O. J., 1998. Environmental impacts of product systems in a life cycle perspective: a survey of five product types based on life cycle assessments studies. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 6, pp. 299–311.

- 70) Hao, H., Wang, H., Ouyang, M., 2011. Fuel conservation and GHG (Greenhouse gas) emissions mitigation scenarios for China's passenger vehicle fleet. *Energy*, vol. 36, pp. 6520–6528.
- Hao, H., Genh, Y., Sarkis, Joseph, 2016. Carbon footprint of global passenger cars: Scenarios through 2050. *Energy*, vol. 101, pp. 121–131.
- 72) Hashimoto, S., Tanikawa, H., Moriguchi, Y., 2007. Where will large amounts of materials accumulated within the economy go? – A material flow analysis of construction minerals for Japan. *Waste Management*, vol. 27, pp. 1725–1738.
- 73) Hatayama, H., Daigo, I., Matsuno, Y., Adachi, Y., 2010. Outlook of the World Steel Cycle Based on the Stock and Flow Dynamics. *Environmental Science and Technology*, vol. 44, pp. 6457–6463.
- 74) Hauber, Nakatani, J., Moriguchi, Y., Time-series product and substance flow analysis of end-of-life electrical and electronic equipment in China. *Waste Management*, vol. 34, pp. 489–497
- 75) Hawkins, T. R., Singh, B., Majeau-Bettez, G., Strømman, A. H., 2013. Comparative Environmental Life Cycle Assessment of Conventional and Electric Vehicles. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, vol. 17(1), pp. 53–64.
- 76) Hertwich, E., Roux, C., 2011. Greenhouse gas emissions from the consumption of

electric and electronic equipment by Norwegian households. *Environmental Science and Technology*, vol. 45, pp. 8190–8196.

- 77) Hoekstra, R., van den Bergh, J.C.J.M., 2003. Comparing structural and index decomposition analysis. *Energy Economics*: vol. 35, pp. 39–64.
- 78) Hu, M., Bergsdal, H., van der Voet, E., Huppes, G., Müller, D. B., 2010. Dynamics of urban and rural housing stocks in China. *Building Research & Information*. vol. 38, pp. 301–317.
- 79) Huang, T, Shi, F., Tanikawa, H., Fei, J., Han, J., 2013. Materials demand and environmental impact of buildings construction and demolition in China based on dynamic material flow analysis. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, vol. 72, pp. 91–101.
- Huo, H., Wang, M., 2012. Modeling future vehicle sales and stock in China. *Energy Policy*, vol. 43, pp. 17–29.
- 81) Institute for Energy and Environmental Research Heidelberg, 2009.Umweltprämieoder Abwrackprämie?
- 82) International Energy Agency (IEA), 2016, CO<sub>2</sub> Emissions from Fuel Combustion (2016 Edition), OECD/IEA, Paris.

(https://www.iea.org/publications/freepublications/publication/KeyCO2EmissionsT

rends.pdf) (Accessed 23 August, 2017)

- 83) IPCC, 2014. Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Edenhofer, O., R. Pichs-Madruga, Y. Sokona, E. Farahani, S. Kadner, K. Seyboth, A. Adler, I. Baum, S. Brunner, P. Eickemeier, B. Kriemann, J. Savolainen, S. Schlömer, C. von Stechow, T. Zwickel and J.C. Minx (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- 84) Iraldo, F., Facheris, C., Nucci, B., 2016. Is product durability better for environment and for economic efficiency? A comparative assessment applying LCA and LCC to two energy-intensive products. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 140(3), pp. 1353–1364.
- 85) Isaac, M., Van Vuuren, D. P., 2009. Modeling global residential sector energy demand for heating and air conditioning in the context of climate change. *Energy Policy*, vol. 37, pp. 507–521.
- Islam, T., Meade, N., 2000. Modelling diffusion and replacement. *European Journal of Operational Research*, vol. 125, pp. 551–570.
- 87) Japan Automobile Manufactures Association, 2012. Japan's Measures to Withstand Impact of Global Crisis on its Automotive Industry.

- 88) Kagawa, S., Inamura, H., 2001. A Structural Decomposition of Energy Consumption Based on a Hybrid Rectangular Input-Output Framework: Japan's Case. *Economic Systems Research*: vol. 13(4), pp. 339–363.
- Kagawa, S., Tasaki, T., Moriguchi, Y., 2006. The environmental and economic consequences of product lifetime extension: Empirical analysis for automobile use. *Ecological Economics*, vol. 58, pp. 108–118.
- 90) Kagawa, S., Kudoh, Y., Nansai, K., Tasaki, T., 2008. The economic and environmental consequences of automobile lifetime extension and fuel economy improvement: Japan's case. *Economic System Research*, vol. 20 (1), pp. 3–28.
- Kagawa, S., Nansai, K., Kudoh, Y., 2009. Does product lifetime extension increase our income at the expense of energy consumption? *Energy Economics*, vol. 31, pp. 197–210.
- 92) Kagawa, S., Nansai, K., Kondo, Y., Hubacek, K., Suh, S., Minx, J., Kudoh, Y., Tasaki, T., Nakamura, S., 2011. Role of motor vehicle lifetime extension in climate change policy. *Environmental Science & Technology*, vol. 45, pp. 1184–1191.
- 93) Kagawa, S., Hubacek, K., Nansai, K., Kataoka, M., Managi, S., Suh, S., Kudoh, Y.,
  2013. Better cars or older cars?: Assessing CO<sub>2</sub> emission reduction potential of passenger vehicle replacement programs. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 23,

pp. 1807–1818.

- 94) Kagawa, S., Nakamura, S., Kondo, Y., Matsubae, K., Nagasaka, T., 2015.
  Forecasting replacement demand of durable goods and the induced secondary material flows: A case study of automobiles. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, vol. 19 (1), pp. 10–19.
- 95) Kakudate, K., Kajikawa, Y., Adachi, Y., Suzuki, T., 2002. Calculation model of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions for Japanese passenger cars. *International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, vol. 7(2), pp. 85–93.
- 96) Kapur, A., Keoleian, G. A., Kendall, A., Kesler, S. E., 2008, Dynamic Modeling of In-Use Cement Stocks in the United States. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, vol. 12, pp. 539–556.
- 97) Kiatkittipong, W., Wongsuchoto, P., Meevasana, K., Pavasant, P., 2008, When to buy new electrical/electronic products? *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol.16, pp. 1339–1345.
- 98) Kim, H. C., Keoleian, G. A., Grande, D. E., Bean, J. C., 2003. Life cycle optimization of automobile replacement: model and spplication. *Environmental Science and Technology*, vol. 37, pp. 5407–5413.
- 99) Kim, H. C., Ross, M. H., Keoleian, G. A., 2004. Optimal fleet conversion policy

from a life cycle perspective. Transportation Research Part D, vol. 9, pp. 229–249.

- 100) Kim, H. C., Keoleian, G. A., Horie, Y., A., 2006. Optimal household refrigerator replacement policy for life cycle energy, greenhouse gas emissions, and cost. *Energy Policy*, vol. 34, pp. 2310–2323.
- 101) Kim, S., Oguchi, M., Yoshida, A., Terazono, A., 2013. Estimating the amount of WEEE generated in South Korea by using the population balance model. *Waste Management*, vol. 33, pp. 474–483.
- 102) Kleijn, R., Huele, R., van der Voet, E., 2000. Dynamic substance flow analysis: the delaying mechanism of stocks, with the case of PVC in Sweden. *Ecological Economics*, vol. 32, pp. 241–254.
- 103) Kondo, Y., Nakamura, S., 2004. Evaluating alternative life-cycle strategies for electrical appliances by the waste input-output model. *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, vol. 9 (4), pp. 236–246.
- 104) Kromer, M. A., Bandivadekar, A., Evans, C., 2010. Long-term greenhouse gas emission and petroleum reduction goals: Evolutionary pathways for the light-duty vehicle sector. *Energy*, vol. 35 (1), pp. 387–397.
- 105) Labandeira, X., Labeaga, J.M., 2002. Estimation and control of Spanish energy-related CO<sub>2</sub> emissions: An input–output approach, *Energy Policy*, vol. 30,
pp. 597-611.

- 106) Lam, C. W., Lim, S. -R., Schoenung, J. M., 2013, Linking material flow analysis with environmental impact potential: dynamic technology transition effects on projected e-waste in the United States. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, vol. 17, pp. 299–309.
- 107) Lavee, D., Becker, N., 2009. Cost-benefit analysis of an accelerated vehicle retirement programme. *Journal of environmental Planning and Management*, vol. 52, pp. 777–795.
- 108) Lelli, M., Pede, G., Valentini, M. P., Masoni, P., 2010. Car scrappage incentives policies: a life cycle result study on GHG emissions. *WIT Transactions on Ecology and the Environment*, vol. 131, pp. 121–131
- 109) Lenski, S. M., Keoleian, G. A., Bolon, K. M., 2010. The impact of 'Cash for Clunkers' on greenhouse gas emissions: a life cycle perspective. *Environmental Research Letters*, 5, pp. 1–8.
- 110) Lenski, S. M., Keoleian, G. A., Moore, M. R., 2013, An assessment of two environmental and economic benefits of 'Cash for Clunkers'. *Ecological Economics*, vol.96, pp.173–180.
- 111) Lenzen, M., 2016. Structural analyses of energy use and carbon emissions an

overview. Economic Systems Research: vol. 28, pp. 119–132.

- 112) Leontief, W., 1970. Environmental repercussions and the economic structure: an input–output approach, *Review of Economics & Statistics*, vol. 52, pp. 262–271.
- 113) Li, S., Linn, J., Spiller, E., 2013. Evaluating "Cash-for-Clunkers": Program effects on auto sales and the environment. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, vol. 65, pp. 175–193.
- 114) Lin, X., Polenske, K. R., 1995. Input-Output Anatomy of China's Energy Use Changes in the 1980s. *Economic Systems Research*: vol. 7, pp. 67–84.
- 115) Lumbreras, J, Borge, R., Andrés, J. M., Rodríguez, E., 2008. A model to calculate consistent atmospheric emission projections and its application to Spain. *Atmospheric Environment*, vol. 42, pp. 5251–5266.
- 116) McCool, J.I., 2012, Using the Weibull Distribution: Reliability, Modeling and Inference John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New Jersey, U.S.A.
- 117) Melaina, M., Webster, K., 2011. Role of fuel carbon intensity in achieving 2050 greenhouse gas reduction goals within the light-duty vehicle sector. *Environmental Science & Technology*, vol. 45, pp. 3865–3871.
- 118) Melo, M. T., 1999. Statistical analysis of metal scrap generation: the case of

aluminium in Germany. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, vol. 26, pp. 91–113.

- Miatto, A, Schandl, H., Tanikawa, H., 2017. How important are realistic building lifespan assumptions for material stock and demolition waste accounts? *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, vol. 122, pp. 143–154.
- Mijailović, R., 2013. The optimal lifetime of passenger cars based on minimization of CO<sub>2</sub> emission. *Energy*, vol. 55, pp. 869–878.
- Miller, T. R., Duan, H., Gregory, J., Kahhat, R., Kirchain, R., 2016.
   Quantifying domestic used electronics flows using a combination of material flow methodologies: a US case study. *Environmental Science & Technology*: vol. 50, pp. 5711–5719.
- 122) Ministry of Foreign Affair of Japan, 2016. Intended Nationally Determined Contributions (INDC): Greenhouse Gas Emission Reduction Target in FY2030. (<u>http://www.mofa.go.jp/ic/ch/page1we\_000104.html</u>) (Accessed 29 August, 2017).
- Ministry of the Environment of Japan, 2011. The Research Report on Reuse
   Promotion of End-of-Life Products (平成 22 年度使用済製品等のリユース促進
   事業研究会報告書) (in Japanese)

(http://www.env.go.jp/recycle/report/h23-01/full.pdf) (Accessed 12 July, 2015).

124) Ministry of the Environment of Japan, 2014. Guidelines for the calculation of

greenhouse gas emission intensities throughout the supply chain ver. 2.1 (サプライ チェーンを通じた組織の温室効果ガス等の算定のための排出原単位データ ベース ver2.1) (in Japanese)

(http://www.env.go.jp/earth/ondanka/supply\_chain/comm\_rep/unit201203v2-02.pd f#search=%27%E6%8E%92%E5%87%BA%E5%8E%9F%E5%8D%98%E4%BD %8D+ver2.1%27) (Accessed 18 September, 2015).

- 125) Ministry of the Environment of Japan, 2016. Japan's National Greenhouse Gas Emissions in Fiscal Year 2014. (2014 年度(平成 26 年度)の温室効果ガス排 出量(確報値)について)(in Japanese) (http://www.env.go.jp/earth/ondanka/ghg/2014\_kakuho.pdf)(Accessed 29 August, 2017).
- 126) Mittal, S., Dai, H., Shukura, P. R., 2016. Low carbon urban transport scenarios for China and India: A comparative assessment. *Transportation Research Part D*, vol. 44, pp. 266–276.
- 127) Mizuno, Y., Kintoki, N., Kishita, Y., Fukushige, S., Umeda, Y., 2015. A study on optimum circulation period of products for minimizing lifecycle energy consumption. *Procedia CIRP*, vol. 29, pp. 597–602.
- 128) Mongelli, I., Tassielli, G., Notarnicola, B., 2006. Global warming agreements, international trade and energy/carbon embodiments: an input–output approach to the Italian case. *Energy Policy*, vol. 34, pp. 88–100.

- 129) Müller, D. B., Schebek, L., 2013. Input-Output-based Life Cycle Inventory. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, vol. 17, pp. 504–516.
- 130) Müller, D. B., 2006. Stock dynamics for forecasting material flows: Case study for housing in the Netherlands. *Ecological Economics*, vol. 59 (1), pp. 142–156.
- 131) Munksgaard, J., Pedersen, K. A., Wier, M., 2000. Impact of household consumption on CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. *Energy Economics*, vol. 22, pp. 423–440.
- 132) Murakami, S., Oguchi, M., Tasaki, T., Daigo, I., Hashimoto, S., 2010. Lifespan of commodities, part I: The creation of a database and its review. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, vol. 14 (4), pp. 598–612.
- Nakamura, S., Kondo, Y., 2006. Hybrid LCC of appliances with different energy efficiency. *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, vol. 11 (5), pp. 305–314.
- Nakamura, S., Kondo, Y., Kagawa, S., Matsubae, K., Nakajima, K., Nagasaka,
   T., 2014. MaTrace: Tracing the fate of materials over time and across products in open-loop recycling. *Environmental Science & Technology*: vol. 48, pp. 7207–7214.
- 135) Nansai, K., Kagawa, S., Kondo, Y., Suh, S., Inaba, R., Nakajima, K., 2009. Improving the completeness of product carbon footprints using a global link

input-output model: The case study of Japan. *Economic Systems Research*, vol. 21, pp. 267–290.

- Nansai, K., Kagawa, S., Suh, S., Fujii, M., Inaba, R., Hashimoto, S., 2009.
   Material and energy dependence of services and its implications for climate change. *Environmental Science & Technology*, vol. 43, pp. 4241–4246.
- Nansai, K., Nakajima, K., Kagawa, S., Kondo, Y., Shigetomi, Y., Suh, S., 2015.
   Global mining risk footprint of critical metals necessary for low-carbon technologies: The case of neodymium, cobalt, and platinum in Japan.
   *Environmental Science & Technology*, vol. 49, pp. 2022–2031.
- 138) National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology of Japan, 2010. Life cycle climate performance (LCCP) of air conditioning taking into their usage (使用実態を考慮したエアコンの LCCP) (in Japanese) (http://www.meti.go.jp/committee/materials2/downloadfiles/g100726a06j02.pdf#se arch=%27%E4%BD%BF%E7%94%A8%E5%AE%9F%E6%85%8B%E3%82%92 %E8%80%83%E6%85%AE%E3%81%97%E3%81%9F%E3%82%A8%E3%82% A2%E3%82%B3%E3%83%B3%E3%81%AELCCP%27) (Accessed 10 September, 2015).
- National Institute of Population and Social Security Research of Japan, 2013.
   Household projection for Japan 2010–2035: Outline the results and methods (January 2013).

- 140) Okamoto, S., 2013. Impacts of growth of a service economy on CO<sub>2</sub> emissions:Japan's case. *Journal of Economic Structures*, vol. 2, pp. 1–21.
- 141) Olonscheck, M., Holsten, A., Kropp, J. P., 2011. Heating and cooling energy demand and related emissions of the German residential building stock under climate change. *Energy Policy*, vol. 39, pp. 4795–4806.
- Oguchi, M., Kameya, T., Tasaki, T., Tamai, N., Tanikawa, N., 2006.
  Estimation of lifetime distributions and waste numbers of 23 types of electrical and electronic equipment (電気・電子製品 23 品目の使用年数分布と使用済み台数の推計). Journal of Japan Society of Material Cycles and Waste Management (廃 棄物学会論文誌), vol. 17, pp. 50–60 (in Japanese).
- 143) Oguchi, M., Kameyama, T., Yagi, S., Urano, K., 2008. Product flow analysis of various consumer durables in Japan. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, vol. 52, pp. 463–480.
- 144) Oguchi, M., Tasaki, T., Moriguchi, Y., 2010. Decomposition analysis of waste generation from stocks in a dynamic system: Factors in the generation of waste consumer durables. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, vol. 14(4), pp. 627–640.
- 145) Oguchi, M., Murakami, S., Tasaki, T., Daigo, I., Hashimoto, S., 2010. Lifespan of commodities, part II: Methodologies for estimating lifespan distribution of

commodities. Journal of Industrial Ecology, vol. 14 (4), pp. 613-626.

- 146) Oguchi, M., Fuse, M., 2015. Regional and longitudinal estimation of product lifespan distribution: A case study for automobiles and a simplified estimation method. *Environmental Science & Technology*, vol. 49, pp. 1738–1743.
- 147) Ou, X. M., Zhang, X. L., Chang, S. Y., 2010. Scenario analysis on alternative fuel/vehicle for China's future road transport: Life-cycle energy demand and GHG emissions. *Energy Policy*, vol. 38 (8), pp. 3943–3956.
- 148) Palencia, J. C. G., Furubayashi, T., Nakata, T., 2012. Energy use and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions reduction potential in passenger car fleet using zero emission vehicles and lightweight materials. *Energy*, vol. 48, pp. 548–565.
- 149) Pant, D., 2013. E-waste projection using life-span and population statistics. *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, vol. 18, pp. 1465–1469.
- 150) Parikh, K. S., Parikh, J. K., 2016. Realizing potential savings of energy and emissions from efficient household appliances in India. *Energy Policy*, vol. 97, pp. 102–111.
- 151) Pauliuk, S., Müller, D. B., 2014. The role of in-use stocks in the social metabolism and in climate change mitigation. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 24, pp. 132–142.

- 152) Pauliuk, S., Kondo, Y., Nakamura, S., Nakajima, K., 2017. Regional distribution and losses of end-of-life steel throughout multiple product life cycles—Insights from the global multiregional MaTrace model. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, vol. 116, pp. 84–93.
- 153) Peters, G. P., 2008. From production-based to consumption-based national emission inventories. *Ecological Economics*, vol. 65, pp. 13–23.
- Petridis, N. E., Stiakakis, E., Petridis, K., Dey, P., 2016. Estimation of computer waste quantities using forecasting techniques, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 112, pp. 3072–3085.
- 155) Polák M., Drápalová, L., 2012. Estimation of end of life mobile phones generation: The case study of the Czech Republic. *Waste Management*, vol. 32, pp. 1583–1591.
- 156) Pout, C., Hitchin, E. R., 2009. Future environmental impacts of room air-conditioners in Europe. *Building Research & Information*, vol. 37, pp. 358–368.
- 157) Rahmani, N., Nabizadeh, R., Yaghmaeian, K., Mahvi, A. H., Yunesian, M.,
  2014. Estimation of waste from computers and mobile phones in Iran. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, vol. 87, pp. 21–29.

- 158) Rapson, D., 2014. Durable goods and long-run electricity demand: Evidence from air conditioner purchase behavior, *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, vol. 68, pp. 141–160.
- 159) Sailor, D. J., Pavlova, A. A., 2003. Air conditioning market saturation and long-term response of residential cooling energy demand to climate change. *Energy*, vol. 28, pp. 941–951.
- 160) Samalas C., Meisterling, K., 2008. Life cycle assessment of greenhouse gas emissions from plug-in hybrid vehicles: implications for policy. *Environmental Science & Technology*, vol. 42, pp. 3170–3176.
- 161) Samalas, Z., Zachariadis, T., Holtmann, T., Rentz, O., Zierock, K. -H., 1999. A methodology and a database for forecasting anthropogenic atmospheric emissions in Europe. *Atmospheric Environment*, vol. 33, pp. 3389–3404.
- 162) Sandler, R., 2012. Clunkers or Junkers? Adverse selection in a vehicle retirement program. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, vol. 4(4), pp. 253–281.
- 163) Scown, C.D., Taptich, M., Horvath, A., McKone, T.E., Nazaroff, W.W., 2013. Achieving Deep Cuts in the Carbon Intensity of U.S. Automobile Transportation by 2050: Complementary Roles for Electricity and Biofuels. *Environmental Science & Technology*: vol. 47, pp. 9044–9052.

- 164) Shigetomi, Y., Nansai, K., Kagawa, S., Tohono, S., 2014. Changes in the Carbon Footprint of Japanese Households in an Aging Society. *Environmental Science & Technology*: vol. 48, pp. 6069–6080.
- 165) Shigetomi, Y., Nansai, K., Kagawa, S., Tohono, S., 2015. Trends in Japanese households' critical-metals material footprints. *Ecological Economics*, vol. 119, pp. 118–126.
- 166) Singh, B., Strømman, A. H., 2013. Environmental assessment of electrification of road transport in Norway: Scenarios and impacts. *Transportation Research Part D*, vol. 25, pp. 106–111.
- 167) Skelton, A. C. H., Allwood, J. M., 2013. Product life trade offs: What if products fail early? *Environmental, Science and Technology*, vol. 47, pp. 1719–1728.
- 168) Spitzley, D. V., Grande, D. E., Keoleian, G. A., Kim, H. C., 2005. Life cycle optimization of ownership costs and emissions reduction in US vehicle retirement decisions. *Transportation Research Part D*, vol. 10, pp. 161–175.
- 169) Statistics Bureau of Japan, 2015. Japan statistical year book 2015.
- 170) Steubing, B., Böni, H., Schluep, M., Silva, U., Ludwig, C., 2010. Assessing

computer waste generation in Chile using material flow analysis. *Waste Management*, vol. 30, pp. 473–482.

- Su B., Ang, B.W., 2012. Structural decomposition analysis applied to energy and emissions: Some methodological developments. *Energy Economics*: vol. 34, pp. 177–188.
- Suckling, J., Lee, J., 2015. Redefining scope: the true environmental impact of smartphones? *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, vol. 20, pp. 1181–1196.
- 173) Sun, J. W., 1998. Changes in energy consumption and energy intensity: A complete decomposition model. *Energy Economics*, vol. 20, pp. 85–100.
- Taptich, M. N., Horvath, A., Chester, M. V., 2016. Worldwide Greenhouse Gas Reduction Potentials in Transportation by 2050. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, vol. 20, pp. 329–340
- Tasaki, T., Oguchi, M., Kameya, T., Urano, K., 2001. A prediction method for the number of waste durable goods (使用済み耐久消費財の発生台数の予測方 法). *Journal of Japan Society of Material Cycles and Waste Management*(廃棄物 学会論文誌), vol. 12, pp. 49–58 (in Japanese).
- 176) Tasaki, T., Takasuga, T., Osako, M., Sakai, S., 2004. Substance flow analysis

of brominated flame retardants and related compounds in waste TV sets in Japan. *Waste Management*, vol. 24, pp.571–580.

- 177) Tasaki,T., Motoshita,M., Uchida,H., Suzuki,Y., 2012, Assessing the replacement of electrical home appliances for the environment: an aid to consumer decision making. *Journal of Industrial Ecology*, vol. 17(2), pp.290–298.
- 178) The Japan Air Refrigeration and Air Conditioning Industry Association, Domestic shipment results of each product (製品ごとの出荷実績) (in Japanese). (Available at: https://www.jraia.or.jp/statistic/003.html)
- 179) The World Bank, 2012. Global Economic Prospects January 2012.
- 180) Turner, K., Lenzen, M., Wiedmann, T., Barrett, J., 2007. Examining the global environmental impact of regional consumption activities — Part 1: A technical note on combining input–output and ecological footprint analysis. *Ecological Economics*, vol. 62, pp. 37–44.
- 181) United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, 2016. Report of the Conference of the Parties on its twenty—first session, held in Paris from 30 November to 13 December 2015 Part two: Action taken by the Conference of the Parties at its twenty-first session.
- 182) Ürge-Vorsatz, D., Cabeza L. F., Serrano S., Barreneche C., Petrichenko K.,

2015. Heating and cooling energy trends and drivers in buildings. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, vol. 41, pp. 85–98.

- 183) van der Voet, E., Kleijn, R., Huele, R., Ishikawa, M., Verkuijlen, E., 2002.
   Predicting future emissions based on characteristics of stocks. *Ecological Economics*, vol. 41, pp. 223–234.
- Van Schaik, A., Reuter, M. A., 2004. The time-varying factors influencing the recycling rate of products. *Resources Conservation & Recycling*, vol. 40, pp. 301–328.
- 185) Van Wee, B., Moll, H.C., Dirks, J., 2000. Environmental impact of scrapping old cars. *Transportation Research Part D*, vol. 5, pp. 137–143.
- 186) Van Wee, B., De Jong, G., Nijland, H., 2011. Accelerating car scrappage: A review of research into the environmental impacts. *Transport Reviews*, vol. 31 (5), pp. 549–569.
- 187) Wachsmann, U., Wood, R., Lenzen, M., Schaeffer, R., 2009. Structural decomposition of energy use in Brazil from 1970 to 1996. *Applied Energy*, vol. 86, pp. 578–587.
- 188) Waite, M., Cohen, E., Torbey, H., Piccirilli, M., Modi, V., 2017. Global trends in urban electricity demands for cooling and heating. *Energy*, vol. 127, pp.

786-802.

- 189) Walk, W., 2009. Forecasting quantities of disused household CRT appliances A regional case study approach and its application to Baden-Württemberg. *Waste Management*, vol. 29, pp. 945–951.
- 190) Weymar, E., Finkbeiner, M., 2016. Statistical analysis of empirical lifetime mileage data for automotive LCA. *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, vol.21, pp.215–223.
- 191) Xiao, R., Zhang, Y., Liu, X., Yuan, Z., 2015. A life-cycle assessment of household refrigerators in China. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 95, pp. 301–310.
- 192) Xue, M., Kojima, N., Zhou, L., Machimura, T., Tokai, A., 2017. Dynamic analysis of global warming impact of the household refrigerator sector in Japan from 1952 to 2030. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 145, pp. 172–179.
- 193) Yan, X., Crookes, R.J., 2009. Reduction potentials of energy demand and GHG emissions in China's road transport sector. *Energy Policy*: vol. 37, pp. 658–668.
- 194) Yang, C., McCollum, D., McCarthy, R., Leighty, W., 2009. Meeting an 80% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from transportation by 2050: A case study in

California. Transportation Research Part D, vol.14, pp.147–156.

- 195) Yokota, K., Matsuno, Y., Yamashita, M., Adachi, Y., 2003. Integration of life cycle assessment and population balance model for assessing environmental impacts of product population in a social scale. *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, vol. 8 (3), pp. 129–136.
- 196) Yoshida, A., Tasaki, T., Terazono, A., 2009. Material flow analysis of used personal computers in Japan. *Waste Management*, vol. 29, pp. 1602–1614.
- 197) Zhang, L., Yuan, Z., Bi, J., 2011. Predicting future quantities of obsolete household appliances in Nanjing by a stock-based model. *Resources, Conservation* and Recycling, vol. 55, pp. 1087–1094.
- Zhang, Y., 2009. Structural decomposition analysis of sources of decarbonizing economic development in China; 1992–2006. *Ecological Economics*, vol. 68, pp. 2399–2405.
- 199) Zhao, S. J., Heywood, J. B., Projected pathways and environmental impact of China's electrified passenger vehicles. *Transportation Research Part D*, vol. 53, pp. 334–353.
- Zhou, N., Fridley, D., McNeil, M., Zheng, N., Letschert, V., Ke, J., Saheb, Y.,
  2011. Analysis of potential energy saving and CO<sub>2</sub> emission reduction of home

appliances and commercial equipments in China. *Energy Policy*: vol. 39, pp. 4541-4550.